1

The relationship between the secondary vascular system and the lymphatic vascular system in fish

Virginia Panara^{1,2,3†}, Zuzana Varaliová^{1,4†}, Jörg Wilting⁵, Katarzyna Koltowska^{1,2,*} and Michael Jeltsch^{4,6,7,8,9,*}

¹Rudbeck Laboratory, Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Dag Hammarskjölds väg 20, Uppsala 751 85, Sweden

²Beijer Laboratory, Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Uppsala University, Dag Hammarskjölds väg 20, Uppsala 751 85, Sweden

³Department of Organismal Biology, Evolutionary Biology Centre, Uppsala University, Norbyvägen 18 A, Uppsala 752 36, Sweden

⁵Institute of Anatomy and Embryology, University Medical School Göttingen, Kreuzbergring 36, Göttingen 37075, Germany

⁶Individualized Drug Therapy Research Program, University of Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, Helsinki 00290, Finland

⁷Wihuri Research Institute, Haartmaninkatu 8, Helsinki 00290, Finland

⁸Helsinki One Health, University of Helsinki, P.O. Box 4, Helsinki 00014, Finland

⁹Helsinki Institute of Sustainability Science, Yliopistonkatu 3, Helsinki 00100, Finland

ABSTRACT

New technologies have resulted in a better understanding of blood and lymphatic vascular heterogeneity at the cellular and molecular levels. However, we still need to learn more about the heterogeneity of the cardiovascular and lymphatic systems among different species at the anatomical and functional levels. Even the deceptively simple question of the functions of fish lymphatic vessels has yet to be conclusively answered. The most common interpretation assumes a similar dual setup of the vasculature in zebrafish and mammals: a cardiovascular circulatory system, and a lymphatic vascular system (LVS), in which the unidirectional flow is derived from surplus interstitial fluid and returned into the cardiovascular system. A competing interpretation questions the identity of the lymphatic vessels in fish as at least some of them receive their flow from arteries via specialised anastomoses, neither requiring an interstitial source for the lymphatic flow nor stipulating unidirectionality. In this alternative view, the 'fish lymphatics' are a specialised subcompartment of the cardiovascular system, called the secondary vascular system (SVS). Many of the contradictions found in the literature appear to stem from the fact that the SVS develops in part or completely from an embryonic LVS by transdifferentiation. Future research needs to establish the extent of embryonic transdifferentiation of lymphatics into SVS blood vessels. Similarly, more insight is needed into the molecular regulation of vascular development in fish. Most fish possess more than the five vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) genes and three VEGF receptor genes that we know from mice or humans, and the relative tolerance of fish to whole-genome and gene duplications could underlie the evolutionary diversification of the vasculature. This review discusses the key elements of the fish lymphatics versus the SVS and attempts to draw a picture coherent with the existing data, including phylogenetic knowledge.

Key words: secondary vascular system, lymphatic vascular system, fish physiology, embryonic development, zebrafish, transdifferentiation, aquatic respiration, cardiovascular system, vascular identity, vascular endothelial growth factors.

⁴Drug Research Program, University of Helsinki, Viikinkaari 5E, Helsinki 00790, Finland

^{*} Authors for correspondence: K. Koltowska (Tel.: +46729999512; E-mail: kaska.koltowska@igp.uu.se) and M. Jeltsch (Tel.: +358294125514; E-mail: michael@jeltsch.org).

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	The secondary vascular system of fish	2
III.	The lymphatic vascular system of fish	4
IV.	The lymphatics/SVS controversy	6
V.	Defining the lymphatics	7
	(1) Molecular markers	. 7
	(2) Interstitial fluid uptake function	. 7
VI.	Vascular permeability and interstitial fluid in fish	8
VII.	Phylogenetic distribution of the SVS	9
VIII.	Possible functions of the SVS	9
IX.	Some respiratory gill vessels have SVS characteristics	. 10
Х.	Ontogeny of the lymphatics and SVS	. 10
	(1) Ontogeny of the lymphatics	11
	(2) Ontogeny of the SVS	12
XI.	Vascular endothelial growth factor signalling and the SVS	. 14
XII.	What remains from embryonic lymphatics after transdifferentiation?	. 17
XIII.	An evolutionary model of the lymphatic vascular system	. 18
XIV.	Conclusions	. 19
XV.	Acknowledgements	. 20
XVI.	Author contributions	. 20
XVII	. References	. 20

I. INTRODUCTION

The lymphatic vascular system (LVS) is one of the components of the lymphatic system, which includes organs such as lymph nodes, the spleen and the thymus, among others. In mammals, the LVS maintains the fluid balance between blood and interstitium, is integral to immune defence, and plays an important role in the intake and distribution of long-chain fatty acids and fat-soluble vitamins. Besides these major functions, it fulfils several other tasks (Oliver *et al.*, 2020; Wilting & Becker, 2022).

The LVS of different animal classes features unique adaptations resulting from their separate evolutionary trajectories (Hedrick et al., 2013). These include, for instance, the cutaneous lymph sacs and lymph hearts in amphibia (Hedrick et al., 2014). Fish display a far greater morphological heterogeneity than all other vertebrates combined (Gans & Bell, 2013). This is unsurprising, as fish are not an animal class but rather an informal grouping, comprising jawless fish, cartilaginous fish, ray-finned fish and non-tetrapod lobe-finned fish, and many of these are more closely related to tetrapods than they are to other fish groups. The placement of extant fish clades within the vertebrate phylogenetic tree is shown in Fig. 1, and the term 'fish' will be used to indicate this paraphyletic assemblage. Due to their morphological diversity, different descriptions of the piscine LVS have been similarly varied, ranging from claims of complete absence (Vogel & Claviez, 1981) to implicitly assumed gross equivalence to the mammalian one (Kampmeier, 1969).

The study of lymphatic vessels is more challenging than that of other vascular beds. The historical technical challenges to visualise lymphatic vessels not only led to a reduced presence in scientific research compared to the cardiovascular system, but also to several genuine scientific controversies stretching over more than a century. One of the early controversies concerned the embryonic origin of lymphatic vessels in mammals (the centrifugal versus centripetal or Sabin versus Kampmeier controversy) (Sabin, 1902; Huntington & McClure, 1910; Kampmeier, 1969). While the dual embryonic origin of the LVS is now understood (Van Der Jagt, 1932; Schneider et al., 1999; Wilting et al., 2000, 2006; Ny et al., 2005; Okuda et al., 2012; Mahadevan et al., 2014; Stanczuk et al., 2015; Nicenboim et al., 2015; Klotz et al., 2015; Martinez-Corral et al., 2015; Pichol-Thievend et al., 2018; Maruyama et al., 2019; Gancz et al., 2019; Lioux et al., 2020; reviewed by Mattonet & Jeltsch, 2015; Semo, Nicenboim & Yaniv, 2016; Ulvmar & Mäkinen, 2016; Petrova & Koh, 2017; Gutierrez-Miranda & Yaniv, 2020), the debate is still ongoing over the relationship between the secondary vascular system (SVS, a subcompartment of the cardiovascular system exclusive to fishes) and the LVS (Vogel, 2010). Combining older observations (Jourdain, 1880; Mayer, 1919; Burne, 1929) with more recent studies (Yaniv et al., 2006; Küchler et al., 2006; Jensen et al., 2009; Rummer et al., 2014; Das et al., 2022), we aim to provide a view of the status quo and propose a co-existence and partial overlap of lymphatic vessels and the SVS, which can explain why previous research results have appeared contradictory.

II. THE SECONDARY VASCULAR SYSTEM OF FISH

The major differences in the cardiovascular system between fishes and mammals are well described in comparative



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic tree of chordates. 'Fish' is an informal grouping of animals. From a cladistic point of view, mammals are a tiny subclade within the larger clade of bony fishes, explaining the much larger morphological diversity among fishes compared to the rest of the vertebrates. All vertebrates feature at least two members of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: the haemangiogenic VEGFA and the lymphangiogenic VEGFC. Thus, all vertebrates have the molecular prerequisites for some version of a lymphatic vascular system (LVS) or secondary vascular system (SVS). Fish feature the same set of five VEGFs as mammals, except for jawless fishes (Cyclostomata), which lack placenta growth factor (PIGF), VEGFB, and VEGFD. PIGF and VEGFB are not essential for the cardiovascular or the lymphatic vascular systems, and have been lost in amphibians and crocodiles/birds, respectively. Figure adapted from Rauniyar *et al.* (2023) by adding more detailed information about the ray-finned fishes according to Betancur-R *et al.* (2017). p, proto; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; SaGD, salmonid whole-genome duplication; TGD, teleost whole-genome duplication; VGD1, first vertebrate whole-genome duplication; VGD2, second vertebrate whole-genome duplication.

animal physiology textbooks. However, the differences do not concern only the general layout and the forces that these systems are exposed to (see Fig. 2). Many fishes feature a specialised subcompartment of the cardiovascular system that is absent in mammals: the SVS. While the larger vessels of this secondary system run in parallel with the primary circulation, the capillary networks from the primary and secondary systems usually serve different body parts, with the secondary circulation serving primarily the external body surfaces and the fins. The general anatomy of the SVS is described in contemporary textbooks of fish physiology (Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992; Olson & Farell, 2011; Eliason & Stecyk, 2021). The secondary vessels receive blood not directly from the heart but via specialised connections from the primary larger arteries (Fig. 3B) (Vogel, 1981; Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992). These tortuous connections are called inter-arterial anastomoses (IAAs) in the framework of the SVS, or alternatively arterial-lymphatic conduits (ALCs). The IAAs/ALCs enable the regulated entry of red blood cells (RBCs) to the SVS (Jensen et al., 2009; Rummer et al., 2014). The abilities and the methods to cope with hypoxia vary among fish species, but the assumption that the regulated RBC entry to the SVS is related to oxygen supply and demand is a reasonable first approximation since oxygen is arguably the single most defining factor in fish evolution (Holeton, 1980). However, this hypothesis may appear counterproductive given some physiological responses, such as increasing the perfusion of superficial vascular networks with RBCs when the water becomes hypoxic (Jensen et al., 2009). The interaction between hypoxia, exercise, and RBC perfusion of the SVS is addressed in detail in Section VIII.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

3



Fig. 2. The mammalian and the piscine circulatory systems differ in their layout (double *versus* single circuit) and experience different pressures. In mammals, the high blood pressure and the hydrostatic/orthostatic pressure both increase capillary filtration (leakage of fluid), whereas, in fish, the low blood pressure causes less capillary filtration, which is additionally counteracted by the aquatic pressure.

Secondary vascular networks were described in the skin, fins, gills, peritoneal lining, and oral mucosa of ray-finned fish (Actinopterygii) and some non-actinopterygian species. Although there seems to be large inter-species heterogeneity, the SVS can contain in some species a larger blood volume than the primary vascular system (Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992). Many scientists have noted the morphological and functional similarities between the SVS capillaries and the mammalian-like lymphatic capillaries (Burne, 1929; Vogel & Claviez, 1981; Lahnsteiner, Lametschwandtner & Patzner, 1989; Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992; Olson, 1996; Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998; Hedrick et al., 2013; Pavlov et al., 2017). Both are thin-walled, have overlapping junctions and a slow flow. Unsurprisingly, the notion that the SVS might be an evolutionary predecessor of the mammalian-like lymphatic vasculature has been put forward several times (Vogel & Claviez, 1981; Olson, 1996; Jeltsch, 2002). However, the exact nature of the relationship between the SVS and the lymphatic vasculature remains to be explained.

III. THE LYMPHATIC VASCULAR SYSTEM OF FISH

The first descriptions of the LVS in ray-finned fishes appeared quite early (Hewson, 1769; Jourdain, 1880;

Hoyer & Michalski, 1920). However, it was only with the emergence of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) as the model organism of choice in vascular developmental biology (reviewed in Lieschke & Currie, 2007; Gore *et al.*, 2012) – due to its embryonic transparency and ease of transgenesis – that fish lymphatics started being the subject of in-depth scientific investigation.

Yaniv *et al.* (2006) and Küchler *et al.* (2006) described the development of a lymphatic vascular network in zebrafish embryos using time-lapse imaging of transgenic zebrafish, molecular markers, and morpholino inhibition experiments of the lymphatic-specific vascular endothelial growth factor C/vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 (VEGFC/VEGFR3) signalling pathway. Many follow-up publications have contributed to our understanding of lymphatic development in zebrafish (Hogan *et al.*, 2009*a*; Bussmann *et al.*, 2010; Le Guen *et al.*, 2014; Nicenboim *et al.*, 2015; Koltowska *et al.*, 2015; Jung *et al.*, 2017; Vogrin *et al.*, 2019; Peng *et al.*, 2022; Hußmann *et al.*, 2023; Grimm *et al.*, 2023).

The LVS of zebrafish shares many developmental, anatomical, cellular, and molecular features with the LVS of mice or humans. Examples of mammalian-like lymphatics' close relationship to ray-finned fishes' lymphatics are found, e.g. in valve formation (Shin *et al.*, 2019), growth factor activation (Hogan *et al.*, 2009*a*) and organotypic anatomy (Gancz *et al.*, 2019; Harrison *et al.*, 2019; Castranova *et al.*, 2021). Similar to mammals (Mattonet & Jeltsch, 2015),



Fig. 3. The secondary vascular system (SVS) and lymphatic vascular system (LVS) in ray-finned fishes. The terminology and classification of fish vasculature have changed repeatedly during history. (A) The *lymphatic interpretation* considers the fish's cardiovascular and lymphatic vascular systems to be parallel but separate networks that communicate only *via* a few lymphaticovenous junctions, where the lymph fluid returns to the venous system, being functionally and anatomically largely identical to the mammalian-like LVS. Note that for reasons of clarity, we omit in the anal fin the lymphatic vasculature and in the ventral fin the blood vasculature; only in the dorsal fin are the two networks shown as co-existing parallel but separate networks as the interpretation postulates. (B) The *SVS interpretation* redefines all lymphatic vessels as secondary blood vessels that receive their flow from inter-arterial anastomoses, which can regulate the influx of red blood cells (RBCs). (C) In the *hybrid lymphatic/SVS interpretation*, a subset of lymphatic networks maintains their lymphatic nature in the adult fish (termed here 'mammalian-like lymphatic vessels'). However, Das *et al.* (2022) showed for the anal and dorsal fin of zebrafish that some lymphatics transdifferentiate during the juvenile stage into SVS blood vessels. Jensen *et al.* (2009) further demonstrated that the SVS is confluent with some parts of the LVS. These key insights explain many previous incomprehensible research results and demonstrate that vascular identity is more fluid than previously thought.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

different lymphatic beds appear to emerge from distinct developmental origins (Okuda *et al.*, 2012; Nicenboim *et al.*, 2015; Eng *et al.*, 2019; Gancz *et al.*, 2019). However, there are also surprising differences, e.g. the existence of a perivascular cell population within the leptomeningeal layer of the zebrafish referred to in the literature as fluorescent granular perithelial cells (FGPs) or mural lymphatic endothelial cells (muLECs) or brain LECs (BLECs). These are single endothelial cells molecularly resembling lymphatics, which arise from the choroid plexus, while in mammals, the functionally corresponding cells are not considered to be of lymphatic nature (Galanternik *et al.*, 2017; van Lessen *et al.*, 2017; Bower *et al.*, 2017*a*; Castranova *et al.*, 2021; Huisman *et al.*, 2022; Karam *et al.*, 2022; Siret *et al.*, 2022).

The intestinal lymphatics are necessary for effective lipid uptake in mammals, which is the third major physiological function of the lymphatic vasculature (Petrova & Koh, 2020), and arguably the only function severely affected upon VEGFC abrogation in adult mice (Nurmi *et al.*, 2015). VEGFC signalling is involved in the process of blood to lymphatic endothelial cell transition (Karkkainen *et al.*, 2004; Yaniv *et al.*, 2006; Küchler *et al.*, 2006; Hägerling *et al.*, 2013; Shin *et al.*, 2016; Jerafi-Vider *et al.*, 2021). If fish intestinal lymphatics receive a similar constant supply of VEGFC as mammalian lymphatics (Suh *et al.*, 2019), that could make them immune to reverse transdifferentiation signals, which is a testable hypothesis.

Coffindaffer-Wilson, Craig & Hove (2011) documented the presence of a supraintestinal lymphatic vessel formed from adjacent LEC clusters in embryonic zebrafish. Later, Okuda *et al.* (2012) expanded this observation by identifying lyve1b-positive supraintestinal lymphatic vessels and an extensive lymphatic network localised over the entire intestine. To describe the morphological and functional characteristics of intestinal lymphatics in adult fish, Sheridan, Friedlander & Allen (1985) and Sheridan (1988) identified and isolated chylomicron particles in steelhead trout (Salmo gairdneri) serum based on electrophoretic mobility. In mammals, dietary lipids are packed into chylomicron particles and delivered by intestinal lymphatics because they are too large to be taken up by adjacent blood vessels (Bernier-Latmani & Petrova, 2017). Recent studies (Ho et al., 2004; Stoletov et al., 2009; Otis et al., 2015; Templehof et al., 2021) have extensively described lipid transport and metabolism in adult zebrafish but have not investigated the role of lymphatics in this process. Therefore, our understanding of the fundamental pathways between intestinal lymphatics and lipid transport remains incomplete. Glaser (1933) regretted that the then available data were insufficient for conclusions but observed that they cast doubt on the existence of fatabsorbing lacteals in cartilaginous fish, while making them a possibility in bony fish. However, he also discussed Vialleton's (1902) interpretation that nutritional fat uptake by fish lymphatics never happens directly from the intestinal epithelium. In this scenario, the blood capillaries of the intestinal villi would perform the actual uptake but pass some of their cargo to non-villi intestinal lymphatics. Almost

100 years later, the presence and function of lacteals in fish awaits thorough investigation.

While there are some striking differences in the overall lymphatic system of zebrafish and mammals, e.g. the lack of bone marrow haematopoiesis or clearly delineated lymph nodes (Menke *et al.*, 2011), the undeniable similarities in the development of the lymphatic vasculature have made zebrafish a useful model for development, drug discovery, genetics, and associated diseases in humans (Li *et al.*, 2019).

IV. THE LYMPHATICS/SVS CONTROVERSY

Most of the very early descriptions left no doubt about rayfinned fish having an LVS very similar to the mammalian one (Hewson, 1769; Jourdain, 1880; Hover & Michalski, 1920) (Fig. 3A). However, additional observations soon started casting doubts about the nature of some of the observed vessels (Jourdain, 1880; Burne, 1926). Mayer (1919) in particular observed the proximal-to-distal direction of lymph flow (contrary to the expected distal-to-proximal flow of mammalian-like lymphatics) and the fin vessels' intermittent and changing RBC content. He regarded his observations as incompatible with a mammalian-like lymphatic vasculature, and was probably the first to propose the concept of a secondary circulation, relabelling the superficial lymphatics in rayfinned fish as 'white blood vessels' due to the arterial origin of their content (Mayer, 1919). Definitive proof of the SVS in teleost fish emerged in the 1980s, starting with Vogel & Claviez (1981). They identified the IAAs in vascular casts as the origin of the SVS perfusion and showed that the fluid in the vessels previously regarded as lymphatics originates from the arteries (Vogel & Claviez, 1981). They also explained the episodic absence of RBCs in these vessels by identifying specialised structures responsible for regulating RBC entry into this compartment. The debate about the nature of the described lymphatics vessels in fish seemed to be settled, and in the following years, prior reports of the piscine LVS were reinterpreted as descriptions of the SVS (Vogel & Claviez, 1981; Steffensen, Lomholt & Vogel, 1986; Lahnsteiner et al., 1989; Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992). Since the early 1980s, it has been implicitly acknowledged among fish physiologists that the piscine LVS is identical to the SVS. Since lymphatics were defined as vessels whose fluid originates from the interstitium, these vessels were named 'secondary blood vessels', and fish were declared devoid of a mammalian-like lymphatic system.

However, this assumption came under scrutiny with the 'rediscovery' of ray-finned fish lymphatics in the early 2000s. It must be noted that the SVS concept was established when molecular biology was still in its infancy, and lymphatic-specific immunohistochemical identification, tissue-specific reporter lines and visualisation techniques were not yet available. The seminal studies on zebrafish lymphatics (Yaniv *et al.*, 2006; Küchler *et al.*, 2006), and those that followed, demonstrated the presence of an

embryonic lymphatic vasculature sharing developmental origin and molecular signatures with mammalian-like lymphatic vessels, re-opening the question of the existence of mammalian-like lymphatics in fish.

Regrettably, the discovery of the lymphatic vasculature in zebrafish was not followed by a renewed interest in the nature of the relationship between the SVS and the lymphatic vasculature. Ambiguities regarding the nature of the fish LVS remained and some scientists assumed the equivalence of the rediscovered fish LVS and the SVS implicitly. Consequently, several publications use the term lymphatics for what resembles more the vascular structures of the SVS (Jensen *et al.*, 2009; Pavlov *et al.*, 2017), adding to the current confusion about the relationship between these two vascular systems.

V. DEFINING THE LYMPHATICS

To start addressing the relationship between the SVS and lymphatic vessels, we must first define what makes a vessel lymphatic. There are many different ways to define lymphatics. Often, an amalgamation of (i) molecular identity and (ii) structure/function is used: (i) despite some heterogeneity within the lymphatic vascular network, lymphatic endothelial cells are characterised by the expression of molecular markers such as VEGFR3 (Kaipainen et al., 1995), lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronic acid receptor 1 (LYVE1; Banerji et al., 1999), Prospero homeobox protein 1 (PROX1; Wigle & Oliver, 1999), podoplanin (Breiteneder-Geleff et al., 1999), the pan-endothelial marker CD31 (Wilting et al., 2002) and the absence of blood vascular markers such as CD34 (Breiteneder-Geleff et al., 1999); and (ii) lymphatics are functionally and anatomically defined as endothelial-celllined, valve-containing conduits that do not receive fluid directly from the cardiovascular system but instead by uptake of interstitial fluid.

(1) Molecular markers

The above-mentioned molecular markers are routinely used in mice to identify lymphatic vessels. As the heterogeneity of endothelial cells has become increasingly evident over the last decade (Becker *et al.*, 2023), a combination of PROX1 with one or more other markers is usually used to discriminate between blood and lymphatic endothelial cells (Wilting *et al.*, 2002; Petrova *et al.*, 2008; Schroedl *et al.*, 2014). This assessment can be complemented with functional data, such as uptake of large tracer molecules or particles from the interstitium after injection (Polomska & Proulx, 2021) or the absence of erythrocytes, to assert definitely the lymphatic nature of a vessel in humans or mice (Jha, Rauniyar & Jeltsch, 2018).

Not every mammalian lymphatic marker shows the same expression pattern in zebrafish. For example, the gene for LYVE1 is a marker of lymphatic identity in mice (Banerji *et al.*, 1999), while in zebrafish it is also expressed in the cardinal and caudal veins (Okuda *et al.*, 2012). However, many

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://anlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/trv.13114 by Michael Jeltsch - University Of Helsinki, Wiley Online Library on [08/09/20/24]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

of the factors labelling lymphatic vessels in mammals perform a similar function in zebrafish, such as Proxla (van Impel et al., 2014; Koltowska et al., 2015), Lyvelb (Okuda et al., 2012) and Vegfr3/Fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 (Flt4; van Impel et al., 2014). Genes such as *Stabilin1/stabilin* and *Mrc1/mrc1a* are also expressed in the lymphatic endothelium of both zebrafish and mouse (Prevo et al., 2004; Salmi et al., 2004; Taylor, Gordon & Martinez-Pomares, 2005; Hogan et al., 2009a; Jung et al., 2017), although they have been used as lymphatic markers almost exclusively in the former. Very little is known about the heterogeneity of markers in other ray-finned fish species, and studies on alternative fish models often assume the same marker distribution as in zebrafish (Jensen et al., 2009).

An important conserved pathway in lymphatic vascular development is VEGF signalling. Two VEGF family members are crucial for establishing lymphatic vasculature: VEGFC and VEGFD. VEGFC specifically has been shown to be essential for the developing lymphatic vasculature in all vertebrates analysed to date, including ray-finned fish (Karkkainen et al., 2004; Yaniv et al., 2006; Küchler et al., 2006). In both mouse and zebrafish, VEGFC controls the sprouting of the lymphatic progenitors from the cardinal vein (Hogan et al., 2009a; Hägerling et al., 2013) and loss of VEGFC (Karkkainen et al., 2004; Yaniv et al., 2006; Küchler et al., 2006; Hogan et al., 2009a; Hägerling et al., 2013) or its receptor VEGFR3 (Haiko et al., 2008; Hogan et al., 2009b; Hägerling et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2016; Cohen et al., 2020; Jerafi-Vider et al., 2021) causes lymphatic defects in both species. As VEGFC is a secreted protein that needs to be activated by specific proteases in the extracellular environment (Künnapuu, Bokharaie & Jeltsch, 2021), loss of this molecular machinery also results in compromised lymphatics (Hogan et al., 2009a; Bos et al., 2011; Jeltsch et al., 2014; Janssen et al., 2016). The VEGFC signalling pathway is of particular interest for human studies, as several lymphatic conditions have been connected to mutations in either VEGFC (Gordon et al., 2013), VEGFR3 (Ferrell et al., 2010) or the VEGFC processing machinery (Alders et al., 2009; Tha et al., 2017; Brouillard et al., 2017). In zebrafish, loss of Vegfc can be compensated by Vegfd in specific subsets of the lymphatic vasculature (Astin et al., 2014; Vogrin et al., 2019). For an in-depth description of the interaction of VEGFC and VEGFD with their receptors VEGFR3 and VEGFR2 and the molecular machinery responsible for the processing of VEGFC, see Section XI.

The degree of conservation of the factors involved in the development and maintenance of lymphatic vessels points to the common developmental origin and shared molecular programming of the mammalian and ray-finned fish lymphatics, regardless of the possible subsequent processes of transdifferentiation.

(2) Interstitial fluid uptake function

The second approach to the identification of the lymphatic vessels is by anatomy and function. Out of the many

functions of the lymphatics, only interstitial drainage lends itself easily to identification purposes. High-molecular-weight tracers injected into the interstitium will be collected and transported by the lymphatic vessels, allowing their visualisation (Leu *et al.*, 1994).

Several studies have characterised the functionality of larval lymphatics (Yaniv et al., 2006; Küchler et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2013b). However, data about the uptake of interstitial fluid by adult zebrafish lymphatics are still limited. Technically, such studies are extremely difficult to perform at physiological tissue pressures. Injections will inevitably lead to pressure increases. However, Yaniv et al. (2006) showed that caudal subcutaneous injection of 0.5% trypan blue into adult zebrafish specifically labelled the thoracic duct, as did the subcutaneous injection of rhodamine-dextran into an 18-day-old zebrafish larva. Quantum dots (Q-dots) have alternatively been used for functional assays of zebrafish lymphatics (Jung et al., 2017). Q-dots are between 2 and 12 nm in size and are available with different coatings. Their large hydrodynamic radius does not prevent them per se from exiting blood vessels (Jiang et al., 2017), but polyethylene glycolcoated Q-dots minimise the interaction with the vascular wall, and they seem to be retained well in the vasculature (Kamei et al., 2006), although exceptions seem to exist even in mammals (Radu et al., 2015).

Drainage from the interstitium into the lymphatic vessels has been documented in larval stages by multiple studies (Yaniv et al., 2006, 2007; Küchler et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2013b). Under a strict SVS interpretation (Fig. 3B), one might discard such observations as pertaining to a transient developmental structure which later completely transdifferentiates into the SVS. However, it has been shown that the thoracic duct remains present after the emergence of an SVS in the fin (Yaniv et al., 2006), and data from multiple laboratories argues for the persistence of lymphatic structures with drainage function in adult zebrafish (Isogai et al., 2009; Venero Galanternik et al., 2016; Castranova et al., 2021; Elmagid et al., 2022). Küchler et al. (2006) used an intramuscular injection of fluorescent dextran, showing accumulation in the presumed thoracic duct in 33% versus accumulation in the posterior cardinal vein in 31% of the injections. This relatively weak association might reflect that the injection method had been established and validated in mammals and needs to be further optimised for zebrafish. At the same time, it might reflect the generally high vascular permeability in fish and the fact that tissue drainage can also take place directly into the cardiovascular system. Re-absorption at the venous end of the capillary and venule network has been previously thought to be responsible for up to 90% of the extravasated fluid in mammals, but old and recent evidence does not support the notion of a general, large contribution for reabsorption at the venous end of the capillary network (Levick, 1991; Levick & Michel, 2010; Huxley & Scallan, 2011; Brenner, 2018). On the other hand, many of the early experiments on capillary filtration were performed in amphibians, whose transcapillary flux magnitude is closer to fish than to mammals

(Hillman, Drewes & Hedrick, 2021). Capillary 'filtrate' might, therefore, become re-absorbed in these animals, or – more accurately – the concept of capillary filtration might vanish with increasing capillary permeability, and it has been proposed that this is the normal situation for fish and amphibians but exceptional in reptiles, birds and mammals (Hillman *et al.*, 2021). In mammals, the low capillary permeability and the resulting extravasation necessitate drainage. Despite several studies confirming the ability of fish lymphatics to drain interstitial fluid, we know surprisingly little about vascular permeability and capillary filtration in fish, which create surplus interstitial fluid to be drained in the first place.

VI. VASCULAR PERMEABILITY AND INTERSTITIAL FLUID IN FISH

There are few experimental data on the maintenance of tissue fluid balance in fish, but vascular permeability in ray-finned fish is generally greater than mammalian vascular permeability (Hargens, Millard & Johansen, 1974; Olson et al., 2003b; Olson & Farell, 2011). Mammalian blood vessels are usually relatively impermeable to large molecules since the oncotic pressure (i.e. the osmotic pressure generated by large plasma proteins) needs to counteract the high blood pressure and orthostatic pressure to prevent massive fluid extravasation across the vascular wall. On average, fish blood pressures are much lower than mammalian blood pressures, and orthostatic pressure is absent. Hence, fish do not need to maintain a high plasma protein concentration and low interstitial protein concentrations as mammals do (Rutili & Arfors, 1977; Kamel & Halperin, 2017). Because their plasma and interstitial fluid (ISF) protein concentrations are very similar, their baseline vascular permeabilities can be very high (Hargens et al., 1974; Olson et al., 2003b). It has been assumed that the amount of net capillary filtration is insignificant in fish, which might explain why some organs that require drainage in mammals might not require separate drainage systems in fish. However, there are no definitive studies, and the importance of the oncotic pressure for the fluid balance of fish capillaries remains controversial.

Given the similarities of the SVS with the lymphatic vasculature, such as low pressure and overlapping cell junctions (Olson, 1996), the SVS may contribute to ISF uptake in fish. Undeniably, lymphatic oedema does exist in ray-finned fish, as demonstrated by embryonic oedema caused by mutations in the VEGFC/VEGFR3 signalling pathway (Hogan *et al.*, 2009*a,b*; Shin *et al.*, 2016) or by the endothelial-specific deletion of *gata2a* (Shin *et al.*, 2023). But not all oedema in fish is lymphoedema; it can be cardiac (Huang *et al.*, 2013*a*) or renal (Hentschel *et al.*, 2005) oedema. Most oedema in fish is likely unrelated to the inability to drain surplus tissue fluid. Fish also do not experience orthostatic pressure, which forces fluid out of the vessels. Depending on the water depth, fish experience the opposite pressure force of the water column above, essentially acting like a compression garment counteracting the accumulation of ISF (see Fig. 2). In freshwater fishes such as zebrafish, more likely causes of oedema are problems in keeping the osmotic balance, which involves both gills and kidneys. After all, the gill circulation constantly straddles the balance between maximal oxygen uptake *versus* ion loss (freshwater fishes) or ion influx (saltwater fishes) (Evans, Piermarini & Choe, 2005). Therefore, caution must be exercised in considering all occurrences of oedema as an indicator of disrupted lymphatic vasculature functionality.

VII. PHYLOGENETIC DISTRIBUTION OF THE SVS

In order to discuss the function and origin of the SVS, it is important to establish the distribution of this type of vasculature in the main groups of vertebrates, whose identity and relation to each other are shown in Fig. 1.

It is generally accepted that all ray-finned fish feature a more or less developed SVS (Skov & Bennett, 2003), although data are missing for the most distantly related group, the Cladistia. However, even within ray-finned fish, the SVS is characterised by a large number of species-specific differences (Skov & Bennett, 2003), including species where the system only appears to be rudimentary or vestigial (Lahnsteiner et al., 1989), likely contributing to the controversy about fish lymphatics. This great variability is at least partially the outcome of a different methodological approach: contemporary experimental research on mammalian-like lymphatics is carried out almost exclusively in mice, while fish physiologists deploy a wide variety of species, resulting in many reports about the large inter-species heterogeneity in the anatomy of the systemic (i.e. non-gill) vasculature of fish. If the lymphatic vasculature is carefully characterised in multiple mammalian species, it is certainly possible that a similar range of differences might be found, and indeed, studies in marsupials have found significant differences in the arrangement of the lymphatic vessels compared with placental mammals, such as a duplicated thoracic duct and the presence of lateral lymph trunks, common in vertebrates but absent in adult placentals (Bryant, 1977). The specialised gill vasculature is no less heterogeneous and will be discussed separately in Section IX.

The presence of an SVS outside of ray-finned fish is more controversial. In lungfish, no signs of a systemic SVS have been found (Skov & Bennett, 2003), but instead, there is evidence of a mammalian-like LVS (Vogel & Mattheus, 1998). The presence of an SVS has also not been reported in any tetrapod clade. The only description of the presence of an SVS in lobe-finned fish (Sarcopterygii) is limited to the gill vasculature of coelacanths (see Section IX). Several older publications describe the 'lymphatics' of sharks and rays (Robin, 1845; Jourdain, 1868; Hoyer, 1928*a*; Glaser, 1933; Kampmeier, 1969). It is noteworthy that Mayer (1888) and Vialleton (1902) already classified the superficial vessels in the fish skin of sharks and Torpedo marmorata respectively as blood vessels, while at the same time reporting the existence of lymphatics in other organs of these animals. However, recent reports fail to identify any systemic SVS in cartilaginous fish (Chondrichthyes) (Skov & Bennett, 2003). This survey used the tortuous-type IAA as a cardinal sign to detect the presence of an SVS (Skov & Bennett, 2003), so it might be that the anastomoses in cartilaginous fish are simpler and of a different type. In any case, the absence of chylous vessels and skin lymphatics in cartilaginous fish was explicitly discussed by Weidenreich, Baum & Trautmann (1934). At the same time, these authors point out that the skin vessels in cartilaginous fish are the same vessels that are of lymphatic nature in bony fishes, basing their nomenclature - in the absence of any alternative - solely on perfusion with RBCs. Mayer (1888) discussed the same nomenclature issue in his paper about the vascular system of sharks and rays and pointed out - similar to Burne (1926) - that RBCs are frequently found in the so-called lymphatics. Altogether, these data suggest that it might be premature categorically to deny the existence of an SVS in cartilaginous fish. In jawless fish, the existence of a mixed 'venolymphatic' compartment akin to the SVS has been known since the early 20th century (Allen, 1913; Cole, 1926) and discussed frequently thereafter (Grodziński, 1932; Johansen, Fänge & Johannessen, 1962; Casley-Smith & Casley-Smith, 1975), and after the emergence of the SVS concept, this compartment was proposed to be part of the SVS (Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998). Overall, the presence of a systemic SVS in cartilaginous and jawless fish is still controversial, and further research in these organisms is needed to elucidate their lymphatic and SVS organisation.

VIII. POSSIBLE FUNCTIONS OF THE SVS

Several functions have been proposed for the SVS. Comparable to the mammalian-like LVS, the SVS has been implicated to have a function in immune defence (Ishimatsu, Iwama & Heisler, 1995; Randolph et al., 2017; Johnson, 2021) and in pH and osmoregulation (Ishimatsu et al., 1995; Olson, 1996; Machnik et al., 2009; Wiig et al., 2013). Many authors consider a role in aquatic respiration (Vogel & Claviez, 1981; Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992; Rummer et al., 2014). In some species, such as the fastswimming Pacific bluefin tuna (Thunnus orientalis), the SVS has even been co-opted for locomotion, providing fin stability and control by a hydraulic mechanism (Pavlov et al., 2017). A remarkable functional difference between the SVS and the primary circulation is that the SVS can differentially regulate the blood-flow entry of RBCs and thus oxygen supply. However, RBC entry in the SVS is regulated in a complex manner depending on multiple factors. For example, exercise does stimulate RBC entry into the SVS in glass catfish (Kryptopterus bicirrhis) (Rummer et al., 2014), but the oxygen content of the water and whether fish are allowed to perform aquatic surface respiration (ASR) are crucial additional parameters. Hypoxic water reduces RBC entry to the SVS only if fish have no opportunity for ASR (Rummer *et al.*, 2014). However, in zebrafish, hypoxia does trigger RBC entry into the SVS (Jensen *et al.*, 2009). ASR opportunities during this experiment were not reported, although they were later shown to be significant (Mandic *et al.*, 2022).

To understand these complex interactions, oxygen exchanges between the external surfaces of the fish and the surrounding water must be analysed. Whether RBCs lose or take up oxygen in superficial capillary networks depends on the relative oxygen pressure difference between the superficial vessels and the surrounding water. During early fish development, 100% of the entire body's oxygen needs can be met by skin respiration (Rombough, 2002, 2011; Zimmer et al., 2020). In adult fish, skin respiration can account for up to 30% (Steffensen, Lomholt & Johansen, 1981; Sacca & Burggren, 1982) or 60% (Krogh, 1904), depending on the circumstances. Therefore, under low metabolic activity in normoxic water, the oxygen demand of the body surfaces and the fins might be largely met by direct diffusion from the water, and the SVS contains only a few RBCs. During tissue hypoxia, oxygen-depleted RBCs might be able to oxygen-recharge in superficial capillary networks and thus supplement gill respiration. Therefore, during exercise, the specialised connections between the primary arteries and the SVS elongate and allow RBC entry to allow additional oxygen uptake. When the surrounding water is hypoxic, and haemoglobin becomes oxygen depleted before the blood has completed the cardiovascular circuit, the RBCs might make a detour through the SVS connections to recharge in the body surfaces and fins. Skin respiration is especially important during development (Rombough, 2011), but in some species and under hypoxic conditions, also adult fish can satisfy up to 30% of their oxygen demand through skin respiration (Steffensen et al., 1981; Sacca & Burggren, 1982). However, in some species, skin respiration might barely account for the skin's own oxygen consumption (Kirsch & Nonnotte, 1977). Hibernating turtles deploy a similar rescue oxygenation mechanism ('cloacal respiration') (Ultsch, 1989), and even mammals seem to be able to supplement lung respiration (Okabe et al., 2021).

Gill respiration is less efficient than lung respiration because the oxygen content of water is much lower than that of air. On top of this, diffusion in water is slower than in air. Due to these difficulties, fish have developed a broad spectrum of methods to supplement the main oxygen uptake by the gills. In addition to regulating the presence of RBCs in the SVS, ray-finned fish can swallow air or skim the oxygen-enriched surface water layer, and they deploy – in addition to the gills – other organs for oxygen uptake, such as the mouth, stomach, intestine, or swim bladder (Val, 1995; Nelson, 2014). The difficulties involved in oxygen uptake are perhaps the primary reason why fish are coldblooded animals. It is probably impossible to extract enough oxygen from water to maintain a body temperature significantly higher than the environment. There is likely a constant evolutionary pressure to optimise oxygen extraction from the surrounding water. Direct oxygen uptake *via* the skin is an additional pathway to increase oxygen supply when demand is high, and higher metabolically active species tend to feature a more extensive SVS (Skov & Bennett, 2003), which supports this interpretation.

Virginia Panara and others

Overall, increasing the oxygen uptake in hypoxic conditions seems to be one of the key functions of the SVS, in response to the enormous adaptive pressure exercised by the scarcity of this resource in an aquatic environment.

IX. SOME RESPIRATORY GILL VESSELS HAVE SVS CHARACTERISTICS

Due to their complexity and many species-specific adaptations, the vascular networks of the gills have been the subject of many debates, including the question of whether gills feature SVS-like vessels. A generic arrangement is shown in Fig. 4, comprising information derived from different fish species. IAAs and a secondary circulation in gills have been described in teleosts (Olson, 2002). They are also present in the gills of jawless fishes, a lineage that diverged early during vertebrate evolution (Pohla, Lametschwandtner & Adam, 1977; Nakao & Uchinomiya, 1978; Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998). In the gills of cartilaginous fishes, IAAs also have been found (Donald, 1989; Metcalfe & Butler, 1986), although they do not always take the morphologically tortuous shape mostly seen in bony fishes (Olson, 1996). SVS-like gill vessels have also been reported in the coelacanth Latimeria chalumnae (Vogel, Hughes & Mattheus, 1998). Gill IAAs give rise to vessels, often referred to as 'nutrient' vessels or 'non-respiratory' vessels, and it has been debated whether they are part of the SVS. Many authors clearly distinguish between the SVS in the gills ('branchial' or 'gill' SVS) and the SVS in the rest of the body ('systemic SVS') (Skov & Bennett, 2003). Some authors recognise three anatomically different vascular pathways in the gill by further separating the non-respiratory vessels into the 'interlamellar system' (alternatively sometimes called 'central sinus' or 'venolymphatic system', a dense ladder-like system shown in green in Fig. 4) and the 'nutrient system' (shown in pink in Fig. 4), but these might just be different anatomic plumbings of the same network (Olson, 1996). Overall, the presence of an SVS-like vasculature in the gills is attested throughout the different fish groups, a distribution potentially even wider than that of the systemic SVS.

X. ONTOGENY OF THE LYMPHATICS AND SVS

As several lines of investigation point to a developmental origin of the SVS from the LVS, a short summary of the ontogeny of these systems is in order.



Fig. 4. Simplified schematic of the gill vascular architecture. Apart from the arterio-arterial (respiratory) vascular pathway, two morphologically distinct non-respiratory flow paths can be identified in the gills of ray-finned fishes (but perhaps in modified form also in all other fishes): the interlamellar vessels (shown in green) and the nutrient vessels (shown in pink). Both originate from anastomoses at different places in the arterial tree. The interlamellar vessels are heterogeneous among different species but display lymphatic-like features (thin, irregular-shaped endothelium, few red blood cells, and overlapping cells). While the existence of these vessels is unequivocal, the origin of their fluid content is less clear. Thus, their classification as part of the secondary vascular system (SVS) has been questioned. In most fishes, at least some of the flow originates from post-lamellar anastomoses of the efferent filamental artery, as shown in the figure, albeit these anastomoses are not particularly abundant (Olson, 2002). In some ray-finned fishes (e.g. Anguilla), the flow has been shown to originate also from prelamellar anastomoses, thus bypassing the lamellae and thus oxygenation (Laurent et al., 1976; Hughes et al., 1982; Donald & Ellis, 1983). In still other species, the flow originates from so-called nutrient vessels, which receive their flow in most species via tortuous anastomoses from the proximal part of the efferent filament and branchial arteries (Laurent et al., 1976; King & Hossler, 1986; Olson et al., 2003a). However, not all nutrient vessel flow originates from inter-arterial anastomoses (IAAs), and some authors reserve the term 'nutrient vessel' for those not derived from IAAs (Skov & Bennett, 2005). The post-lamellar anastomoses - although not tortuous - are also thought to be regulated. Outflow from the nutrient vessels (capillaries) takes place, depending on the species, via a separate venous system, or they anastomose into the interlamellar vessels. Due to the large inter-species differences, this figure does not depict the gills of a specific species but is an amalgamation of observations from different species. Figure drawn based on the description from Olson (2002) with modifications as described in this legend. For a summary of the diversity in the anatomy of the gill vasculature, see the introduction in Skov & Bennett (2005).

(1) Ontogeny of the lymphatics

Historically, the venous tissue has been considered the origin of the lymphatic endothelial cells. However, more recently, additional cellular sources for the lymphatics have been described in mice (Stanczuk *et al.*, 2015; Klotz *et al.*, 2015; Martinez-Corral *et al.*, 2015; Pichol-Thievend *et al.*, 2018; Maruyama *et al.*, 2019; Lioux *et al.*, 2020) and zebrafish

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

11

(Nicenboim et al., 2015; Eng et al., 2019; Gancz et al., 2019). In zebrafish, all venous-derived progenitor populations described thus far are marked by the expression of *prox1a* since the earlier stages of lymphatic development (Dunworth et al., 2014; Nicenboim et al., 2015; Koltowska et al., 2015; Eng et al., 2019). In the trunk, these progenitors sprout dorsally from the posterior cardinal vein (PCV), forming a transient parachordal lymphangioblast population at the horizontal myoseptum (Isogai, Horiguchi & Weinstein, 2001; Isogai et al., 2003; Lawson et al., 2003; Yaniv et al., 2006; Hogan et al., 2009a; Nicenboim et al., 2015). This population then undergoes a second migration to form the main vessels of the trunk (Yaniv et al., 2006; Bussmann et al., 2010).

The embryonic development of lymphatic endothelial cells in bony fish presents a series of strong similarities. In mice, PROX1-positive cells are observed in the PCV (Wigle & Oliver, 1999) prior to the sprouting that gives rise to the lymphatic sacs dorsally to the cardinal vein, from which the mature lymphatic vasculature will develop (Hägerling et al., 2013). A somewhat similar pattern has also been observed in Xenopus laevis, where Prox1-positive cells bud off the PCV to form the dorsal and ventral caudal lymphatic vessels (Ny et al., 2005). Interestingly, Hoyer (1928b) reported a proliferation of the dorsal part of the PCV in early shark embryos, corresponding to the position of the described cardinal lymphatic ducts at later stages. The migration of the lymphatic progenitors also presents conserved characteristics. In addition to the conserved role of VEGF signalling described in Section XI, neuropilin-2 plays a role in the migration of lymphatic endothelial cells in mouse, zebrafish and Xenopus (Yuan et al., 2002; Hermans et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2010).

The embryonic lymphatic vasculature of teleosts also presents morphological similarities with that of mammals. Recently, a single pair of lymphatic valves, as well as lymphovenous valves at the interface between the lymphatics and the venous circulation, were described in zebrafish (Shin et al., 2019). Such lymphatic valves form under the control of the same factors regulating valvulogenesis in mammals [endothelial transcription factor GATA-2 (GATA2), nuclear factor of activated T-cells, cytoplasmic 1 (NFATC1), forkhead box protein C1/2 (FOXC1/2)], and both in zebrafish and mouse, the leaflet morphology is affected by the loss of integrin-a9 (Bazigou et al., 2009; Shin et al., 2019). Moreover, a conserved *Prox1* enhancer labelling the lymphatic valve in mice also specifically marks the valves in zebrafish (Kazenwadel et al., 2023; Panara et al., 2024). Together, these data suggest lymphatic valves were already present in the ancestor of all bony fishes, and are therefore not an exclusive feature of mammalian-like lymphatics. As valves have not been described in the SVS, their existence implies that the lymphatic of ray-finned fish indeed needs to perform a similar function to that of mammals, at least in some of their parts.

In conclusion, the initial stages of the development of the lymphatic vasculature present many similarities among bony fish, indicating the common origin of this structure regardless of having the potential to give rise to the SVS in the anal fin at later larval developmental stages.

Virginia Panara and others

(2) Ontogeny of the SVS

Most of the older studies on the SVS/lymphatics were performed during embryonic development due to the transparency of young fish (Jourdain, 1880; Mayer, 1919; Hoyer & Michalski, 1920). Likewise, the two seminal publications describing the lymphatics of zebrafish deal almost exclusively with early embryonic development. As a consequence, our knowledge of the later maturation of these vessels is still lacking. The only in-depth analysis of the lymphatic vasculature that systematically followed the developmental trajectory into adulthood concerns the anal and dorsal fin of zebrafish (Das et al., 2022). This study showed that in these fins, an SVS develops by transdifferentiation from the pre-existing lymphatic network during the late larval and juvenile stages (Figs 3C and 5). Following this transdifferentiation, the distal fins are alymphatic in adult fish. When the lymphatic vascularisation of the fins was blocked (as in flt4/vegfr3-deficient zebrafish), the fins became vascularised by sprouts from nearby veins. However, this 'rescue' vasculature of blood endothelial origin was functionally compromised, with unusual pooling of RBCs in the fin vessels (Das et al., 2022), which was not observed in wildtype vessels of lymphatic origin. The transdifferentiation of lymphatics into blood vessels of the SVS appears to be a genetic program independent of the perfusion with blood. Only at the very end of the transdifferentiation program do these new vascular networks connect to the primary vasculature to initiate blood flow. Moreover, the program of lymphatic vascularisation and transdifferentiation into SVS vessels recapitulates during fin regeneration, indicative of an ingrained developmental pathway. Extrapolating from the few existing data, the entire SVS is possibly a developmental derivative of the LVS.

Interestingly, a similar process, resembling the transdifferentiation of lymphatic-like vessel anlagen into blood vessels, also occurs in mammals and birds. The early embryonic vascular plexuses of murine and avian embryos express typical lymphatic factors such as VEGFR3, and deletion of the respective gene causes embryonic vascular failure and death before lymphatics start to develop (Kaipainen et al., 1995; Wilting, Eichmann & Christ, 1997). Comparable to the developing SVS, embryonic mammalian vessels are not perfused with blood before they are connected to a functional heart. This seems to suggest that this transdifferentiation programme might be involved in more than just SVS development. Perfusion, on the other hand, can induce lymphatic-to-blood vessel reprogramming in mice (Chen et al., 2012). Notably, studies on the VEGF signalling family have shown that VEGFA, the factor most associated with blood vessel development, appears evolutionarily later compared to the lymphangiogenic factor VEGFC, which is more ancestral (Holmes & Zachary, 2005; Kasap, 2005; Rauniyar, Bokharaie & Jeltsch, 2023).



Fig. 5. The similarity between the secondary vascular system (SVS) and the lymphatic vascular system (LVS). The SVS (A) can be topologically converted into a mammalian-like LVS (B) by removing the inter-arterial anastomoses. The lymphatics of the anal and dorsal fins of zebrafish transdifferentiate during embryonic development into blood vessels of the SVS, supporting the idea of a common origin. A is simplified and adapted from Vogel (1985*a*) and thus considers the non-respiratory vasculature of the gills to be part of the SVS. For the same reason, it includes the caudal heart, which is a vascular organ in mostly larger fishes, characterised by a valved, double-chambered sinus at the base of the tail fin powered mostly by skeletal muscles. Depending on the interpretation, it has been regarded either as part of the SVS or the LVS (Vogel, 1985*b*). Current data suggest that both the SVS and lymphatics coexist, as shown in C, with some of the collecting vessels participating in both systems. The SVS develops in part or completely by transdifferentiation from an embryonic lymphatic vasculature that appears similar to the mammalian adult LVS. Thus, the mammalian-like LVS can be considered an example of paedomorphism, an evolutionary phenomenon in which adults retain originally ancestral exclusively juvenile features (Joss, 2006). The vasculature of the gills is more complex and thus has been excluded from the hybrid model (C).

Further studies are needed to elucidate if and what pathways act in both these processes.

From all reports on the SVS, it is clear that this system can be found mainly in the skin and the fins, and the vascular networks of visceral organs (such as intestine, mesentery and kidney) (Skov & Bennett, 2003) and skeletal muscle are reportedly devoid of secondary blood vessels. However, there is some evidence that not all fin or skin vasculature transdifferentiates from lymphatics. At least the proximal part of the anal fin and the skin of glass catfish appear to be served by the primary vasculature (Steffensen *et al.*, 1986), emphasising the possibility of large interspecies differences even within the same order. Also, a recent study of the pectoral fin vasculature did not report any lymphatic contribution during development (Paulissen *et al.*, 2022).

The study by Das et al. (2022) was a quantum leap regarding our understanding of the SVS by demonstrating that the transdifferentiated lymphatics connect to the arterial blood flow. However, the anatomical details of these connections have still to be worked out. Given that the zebrafish were able to regulate the entry of RBCs into the anal fin, it appears likely that the connections are functionally and/or anatomically similar to the IAAs, which have been described as the origin of the blood flow in the SVS, specifically for the anal fin (Steffensen et al., 1986). Larger SVS arteries often run in parallel to the primary vessels (Steffensen et al., 1986; Olson, 1996; Skov & Bennett, 2005), which is highly reminiscent of developing lymphatic vessels, which preferentially grow along the blood vessels (Oh et al., 1997; Breslin et al., 2018), requiring physical interaction (Bussmann et al., 2010), chemokine signalling (Cha et al., 2012) and/or sharing a similar preference for a specific environment. For the regenerating zebrafish brain, even the inverse has been reported: lymphatics guiding the growth of blood vessels (Chen et al., 2019). Such molecular and physical interaction between lymphatic endothelial cells and arteries, including mural cells (Peng et al., 2022), could be a first step in the development of ALCs/IAAs. Since lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cells actively avoid connections both in vivo and in vitro (Mäkinen et al., 2001; Knezevic et al., 2017), this repulsion must be overcome to form anastomoses. Here, our knowledge about the mammalian lymphatico-venous connections (Welsh, Kahn & Sweet, 2016; Janardhan & Trivedi, 2019) is only of limited value since ALCs/IAAs involve arteries and the exit of blood plasma. In mammals, several proteins have been shown to be involved in blood and lymphatic vascular separation. Notably, the cytosolic spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk), the intracellular signalling molecule SH2 domain-containing leukocyte protein of 76 kDa (Slp76)/lymphocyte cytosolic protein 2 (Lcp2), and the 7-transmembrane-spanning platelet-activating receptor participate in this process (Abtahian et al., 2003; Hess et al., 2014). Interestingly, the C-type lectin domain family 2 protein (CLEC2), which is required for lymphatic development and maintenance (Bénézech et al., 2014), for maintaining venous vessel integrity during remodelling (Zhang et al., 2018), and for preventing RBCs from filling lymphatics throughout adult mouse life (Haining et al., 2021), does not exist in fish (Hughes et al., 2012). Blood clotting in fish is substantially different from that in terrestrial vertebrates since central molecules of the intrinsic (contact) pathway are for the most part absent (Mariz & Nery, 2020), and the fish equivalent of mammalian platelets (which are cell fragments) - fish thrombocytes - are complete nucleated cells (Stosik, Tokarz-Deptuła & Deptuła, 2019). Interestingly, the intrinsic pathway is also inactivated in the marine mammals of the cetacean lineage, and this is thought to reduce the risk of thrombus formation during diving (Huelsmann et al., 2019).

Two prior publications can help to shed at least some light on the nature of the ALCs/IAAs. Steffensen *et al.* (1986) described the vasculature of the anal fin in the glass catfish. They identified both the origin of the blood flow (IAAs) and the outflow (secondary veins). Jensen *et al.* (2009) did the same for both glass catfish and zebrafish but also experimentally stimulated RBC entry into the secondary vasculature (by exposing fish to hypoxic water) and identified the lymphatic duct as the major outflow vessel of the secondary vasculature. Jensen *et al.* (2009) did not discuss the SVS. Instead, they refer to the intermittently RBC-filled vessels as 'lymphatics', and modify Fig. 1 from Steffensen *et al.* (1986) (see Fig. 6A), relabelling the SVS vessels as 'lymphatics' and the IAAs as 'arterial–lymphatic conduits' (ALCs, Fig. 6B).

The recent discovery of the transdifferentiation from LVS to SVS in zebrafish fins offers us a unique model to start understanding the relationship between these two systems, and to identify the signalling pathways mediating this transition.

XI. VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR SIGNALLING AND THE SVS

When trying to identify possible pathways involved in LVS to SVS transdifferentiation, the VEGF family is an obvious candidate, as its members are often involved in vascular development. For example, VEGFA (also referred to as VEGF) is crucial for the establishment of blood vessels (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996), and we described the role of VEGFC and VEGFD for the lymphatics in Section V. However, while VEGFC and VEGFD are often regarded as specific for the lymphatic vasculature, they can replace VEGFA in activating VEGFR2, which is the primary mitogenic receptor of blood vascular endothelial cells (BECs) (Cao et al., 1998). In order to signal via VEGFR2, VEGFC and VEGFD need to be activated by specific proteases (Künnapuu, Bokharaie & Jeltsch, 2021). This binding makes VEGFC and VEGFD prime candidates for continuously sustaining vascular growth and survival during the lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) to BEC transdifferentiation, since they can support VEGFR3 in LECs as well as VEGFR2 in BECs.

The VEGF family appeared early in vertebrate evolution, and orthologs of VEGFA and VEGFC are found in all fish classes (Fig. 1). VEGFD, VEGFB and placenta growth factor (PIGF) can also be identified in all fishes except for jawless fishes (Rauniyar *et al.*, 2023). While genes for these three VEGFs can be deleted without any obvious consequences in mice (Bellomo *et al.*, 2000; Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001; Aase *et al.*, 2001; Baldwin *et al.*, 2005), at least *Vegfd* and *Vegfba* are indispensable for zebrafish vascularisation (Song *et al.*, 2007; Jensen *et al.*, 2015; Bower *et al.*, 2017*b*), but their relevance for the SVS has not been analysed.

The interaction patterns of the lymphangiogenic VEGFD with its receptors are not conserved among species, not even between mice and humans (Baldwin et al., 2001). Two recombinant forms of mature zebrafish VEGFD did not interact with zebrafish VEGFR3/immunoglobulin G (IgG) fusion proteins (Vogrin et al., 2019), behaving similarly to the Cathepsin D-activated form of human VEGFD (Leppänen et al., 2011). However, it is unknown what VEGFD forms are produced endogenously by zebrafish, and only one of the two recombinant forms deployed by Vogrin et al. (2019) has a corresponding human form. A comprehensive *in-vitro* comparison of the binding profiles of authentic zebrafish VEGFs to zebrafish VEGF receptors has not been performed, but the development of zebrafish facial and heart lymphatics needs both VEGFC and VEGFD (Astin et al., 2014; Bower et al., 2017b; Vivien et al., 2019; Gancz et al., 2019).

While many of the duplicated VEGF genes in zebrafish derive from the teleost genome duplication event (Rauniyar *et al.*, 2023), the VEGF receptor Kdrl (Kdr-like) resulted from an earlier vertebrate lineage duplication (Bussmann *et al.*, 2008). Thus, four VEGF receptors are the rule among vertebrates, and Eutheria (placental mammals), who lost Kdrl, are the exception. The name Kdrl might be misleading since phylogenetic analysis suggests that its closest relative is



Fig. 6. The secondary vascular system/lymphatic vasculature of the anal fin in glass catfish (*Kryptopterus bicirrhis*). In glass catfish, the anal fin is large and extends over most of the body except for the head region. Similar to the description by Das *et al.* (2022), the larger (secondary) vessels run alongside the fin-supporting bones. The connection to the arterial blood flow happens at the level of the segmental artery *via* inter-arterial anastomoses (IAAs). However, the secondary network serves only the distal anal fin, while the primary vasculature serves the proximal anal fin. The left panel (A) shows the secondary vascular system (SVS) interpretation, according to Steffensen *et al.* (1986), while the right panel (B) shows the lymphatic interpretation, according to Jensen *et al.* (2009). Jensen *et al.* (2009) showed that these anatomical structures are not unique to glass catfish but are also found in zebrafish. Red blood cell (RBC) entry into the anal fin vasculature is controlled *via* nitric oxide-mediated opening and linearisation of the IAAs/ arterial–lymphatic conduits (ALCs) and leads to RBCs filling the collecting lymphatic vessels and the thoracic duct, which, differently from the transdifferentiating anal fin lymphatics (Das *et al.*, 2022) maintain Prospero homeobox protein 1 (Prox1) expression also in the adult. Figure based on Steffensen *et al.* (1986) and Jensen *et al.* (2009).

VEGFR1, and not VEGFR2 (Kdr) (Bussmann, Bakkers & Schulte-Merker, 2007) (Fig. 7B). Although less frequently used, the term VEGFR4 thus appears appropriate. With this context, the receptor binding pattern of the zebrafish VEGF family appears less surprising. Like in humans, VEGFD binds VEGFR2 (Vogrin *et al.*, 2019), and the only difference might be that zebrafish VEGFD has completely lost Flt4 (Vegfr3) binding, which is retained by one of the human isoforms (Fig. 7A). In fish, VEGFR4/Kdrl could work as the second VEGFA receptor, allowing VEGFR2 function to diverge. According to Vogrin *et al.* (2019), VEGFR2 has

not lost its VEGFA affinity, but its additional ability to bind VEGFC and VEGFD makes it a possible drop-in replacement for VEGFR3.

However, these observations present a caveat. VEGF factors need to be processed intra- and extracellularly by a protease machinery to become active. While VEGFC is highly conserved in vertebrates, the polypeptide sequence recognised by the VEGFC-activating proteases is highly divergent between fish and other vertebrates (Jha *et al.*, 2019; Rauniyar *et al.*, 2023), possibly indicating differences in the activation of VEGFs. Many of the studies on VEGF binding in zebrafish



(Figure 7 legend continues on next page.)

¹⁴⁶⁹¹⁸⁵x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13114 by Michael Jeltsch - University Of Helsinki , Wiley Online Library on [08/09/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley) ditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

either perform their characterisation of receptor specificities with human proteins in a human cell line (Wang *et al.*, 2020), or the zebrafish-derived proteins are expressed and processed in human cells (Vogrin *et al.*, 2019), and there are no data showing that fish cells process VEGF proteins in the same way as mammalian cells. Specifically, the requirement for proteolytic processing of VEGFC and VEGFD could render data obtained from non-piscine cell lines prone to artifactual activation by host cell proteases. As of today, receptor binding data for zebrafish VEGFs produced in a fish cell line do not exist, a gap that impairs our ability to characterise fully the role of VEGF signalling in the different vascular beds.

In conclusion, it seems likely that some members of the VEGF/VEGFR signalling pathways could have specialised further in mediating LVS to SVS transdifferentiation.

XII. WHAT REMAINS FROM EMBRYONIC LYMPHATICS AFTER TRANSDIFFERENTIATION?

Given the differentiation of the lymphatics into SVS in the fin, the question remains of how much of the embryonic LVS remains in the adult.

While there is no lack of publications describing the lymphatic vessels or secondary blood vessels of fish intestines (Mayer, 1919; Grodziński, 1932; Glaser, 1933; Sire, Lutton & Vernier, 1981; Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998; Hellberg *et al.*, 2013; Astin *et al.*, 2014; Okuda *et al.*, 2015), it is unclear whether these are mammalian- or SVS-type lymphatics or yet another vascular type. The studies performed in ray-finned fishes lack appropriate molecular characterisation (Mayer, 1919; Sire *et al.*, 1981; Hellberg *et al.*, 2013) or describe snapshots of embryonic vessels (Astin *et al.*, 2014; Okuda *et al.*, 2015), potentially subject to concurrent or later transdifferentiation. Moreover, transdifferentiation might not completely convert vessels from 'embryonic mammalian-like lymphatics' into 'adult SVS-type lymphatics'. For example, the data from Jensen *et al.*

(2009) show that the lymphatic duct maintains its Proxl expression in adult zebrafish while being functionally integrated into the SVS. This large lymphatic vessel appears to receive both lymphatic and SVS tributaries and might form a terminal hybrid network connecting both lymphatics and SVS to the primary vasculature. While Das *et al.* (2022) did not follow the venous return of the freshly transdifferentiated fin vasculature, Jensen *et al.* (2009) showed both in glass cat-fish and zebrafish filling of the thoracic duct with RBCs when the SVS became perfused under hypoxic conditions. This arrangement shows that the expression of lymphatic markers is not incompatible with RBC perfusion. Indeed, the concept of hybrid vessels is not new, and they have already been suggested to exist in jawless fishes, such as hagfish and lamprey (Allen, 1913; Cole, 1926; Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998).

Despite these uncertainties, the functional studies performed in late larval and adult stages in zebrafish suggest that vessels performing the fluid-uptake function of lymphatics do persist past the early embryonic stages (Isogai et al., 2009; Venero Galanternik et al., 2016; Castranova et al., 2021; Elmagid et al., 2022). The viscera and the musculature are organs in which the lymphatics keep expressing the standard lymphatic markers, and transdifferentiation is therefore likely absent, partial or incomplete. For example, a flt4+/prox1+ lymphatic network has been identified in the adult zebrafish heart (Vivien et al., 2019; Gancz et al., 2019; Harrison et al., 2019), and an mrc1a+/lyve1+ lymphatic network in the meninges (Castranova et al., 2021). Overall, a model postulating the coexistence of SVS and LVS in different compartments of adult ray-finned fishes (Fig. 3C), with the SVS concentrating on the body surface and gills and the LVS draining the deeper tissues in the body, is the one that best fits the currently available data.

Although the developmental derivation of the SVS from LVS is well supported, this does not necessarily imply that the lymphatic endothelium is the sole developmental origin of secondary vessels. If all secondary vasculature was derived from pre-existing lymphatics, one might expect regions devoid of lymphatic vessels, such as the brain parenchyma (Louveau *et al.*, 2015), to be devoid of secondary blood vessels. The tailfin of adult zebrafish features intermittent RBC

⁽Figure legend continued from previous page.) **Fig. 7.** (A) Schematic comparison of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) signalling among zebrafish, mice, and humans. While in mammals, the generation of the short, soluble VEGFA isoforms is supported by differential messenger RNA (mRNA) splicing, the zebrafish has undergone a duplication of its *vegfa* gene and produces the short isoforms from a different gene than the long isoforms (Leppänen *et al.*, 2011; Rossi *et al.*, 2016; Vogrin *et al.*, 2019). Compared to mice, in which VEGFD exclusively interacts with VEGFR3 (Baldwin *et al.*, 2001), zebrafish Vegfd might exclusively interact with VEGFR2 (Vogrin *et al.*, 2019), while human VEGFD can interact with both receptors (Achen *et al.*, 1998). While there are only three VEGF receptor genes in mice and humans due to a deletion in the eutherian lineage, zebrafish feature the entire repertoire of four VEGF receptors (Bussmann *et al.*, 2008). (B) Phylogenetic tree of the four VEGF receptors with reliability bootstrap values indicated by colour. The VEGFR2/Kdr and VEGFR3/Flt4 branches share a common evolutionary history on the upper half, while the VEGFR1/Flt1 and VEGFR4/Kdrl do likewise on the lower half of the unrooted consensus tree with reliability bootstrap values of 95.9% and 97.2% for the VEGFR2/3 and VEGFR1/VEGFR4 branching, respectively. This strongly suggests that the closest relative of VEGFR2 is VEGFR3 and not VEGFR4/Kdrl. Note that eutherian mammals are entirely absent from the VEGFR4/ Kdrl branch. This tree is based on the analysis available from https://github.com/mjeltsch/vegfr and is compatible with Bussmann *et al.* (2008).

perfusion while maintaining Prox1 expression (Jensen et al., 2009), which is different from the anal and dorsal fin, where Prox1 expression is lost (Das et al., 2022). Vascular networks with hybrid marker expression (such as Schlemm's canal) exist even in humans, and their development - worthy of a separate review - could provide some insight into vascular transdifferentation events and internetwork connections (Truong et al., 2014; Aspelund et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014; Kenig-Kozlovsky et al., 2018; Pawlak et al., 2019). Jensen et al. (2009) suggest that ALCs/IAAs might also exist in mammals, but their reference to the hypothesis by Schmid-Schönbein (2003) appears unconvincing. Similarly, mouse knock-out models or tumours in which lymphatics become perfused by RBCs are not indicative of any physiological perfusion of mammalian-like lymphatics with RBCs (Jensen et al., 2009).

We are facing a highly complex situation where SVS vessels in distinct body compartments seem to arise from different vascular beds following local differentiation processes and expressing a broader spectrum of endothelial markers. This suggests that vascular identity is not a monolith, and instead falls on a spectrum where a binary distinction (assumed by the definition of lymphatics in Section \mathbf{V}) is insufficient to capture the variability seen in the complex biological world (Jeltsch & Alitalo, 2022). In mammals, most vessels are located close to the ends of the spectrum, but we should not assume that this has to be the case in other animal phyla. Neither should we assume that a comprehensive characterisation of vessel identity is easy since some integral elements of this characterisation, such as functional in-vivo assays of the SVS or the lymphatic vasculature, are challenging to automatise.

In conclusion, the available data seem to point toward a coexistence in adult ray-finned fishes of a superficial SVS, mainly located in the skin and fins, together with lymphatic-like vessels, hybrid vessels or both located deeper in the body and performing at least partially the functions of a 'traditional' LVS (Fig. 5).

XIII. AN EVOLUTIONARY MODEL OF THE LYMPHATIC VASCULAR SYSTEM

To conclude this review, we would like to propose an evolutionary model explaining the appearance and relation between the SVS and the lymphatic vasculature.

In Section IX we described the similarities between the non-respiratory gill vasculature and the IAAs of the SVS. Because of such similarities, it seems reasonable to assume that they fulfil a similar function. Oxygen loss in hypoxic water is likely a problem not only in the fins and other body surfaces but also in the gills. Assuming that shunting pathways bypassing the respiratory vasculature exist in jawless vertebrates, the group phylogenetically most distant from tetrapods (Nakao & Uchinomiya, 1978; Lomholt & Franko-Dossar, 1998), we may hypothesise that the capability to

deny RBC entry to specific organs originated at the base of vertebrates due to the need to optimise aquatic respiration. In other words, all fishes possess an alternative gill vascular system, and possibly a systemic one, due to the need to compartmentalise the cardiovascular system to avoid oxygen loss. Once the SVS had developed and improved RBC oxygenation, additional forces likely contributed to the evolution of this system.

A likely major evolutionary driver for the SVS/LVS was the need for immune surveillance. Although the need for immune surveillance in its innate form pre-dates the emergence of vascular systems and is found, e.g. even in Hydra (Bosch, 2014), an economically viable adaptive immune system (AIS) requires a minimum body size (Brace et al., 2017; Ejsmond et al., 2023). Thus, the significant increase in body size between extant vertebrates and their closest relatives could have created the need for both an AIS and aquatic respiration since the need to distribute oxygen via a cardiovascular system also results from an increased body volume (Burggren & Reiber, 2007). Interestingly, the B cell receptor-T cell receptor-major histocompatibility complex (BCR-TCR-MHC)-based AIS present in jawed vertebrates (Gnathostomata) is thought to have an independent evolutionary origin from the jawless fish AIS, which is based on a different set of molecules (variable lymphocyte receptor, VLR) (Flajnik & Kasahara, 2010). Therefore, the jawed vertebrate AIS system is thought to have appeared after the split from jawless vertebrates, and, therefore, after the initial appearance of an SVS (Fig. 8).

The rise of an AIS would, in turn, require a mechanism that ensures that intruding antigens meet with their cognate antigen receptor-presenting cells, such as migratory immune cells or the draining of the interstitial fluid *via* a specialised vascular network. This 'lymphatic' vasculature would have appeared either at the base of jawed vertebrates or that of bony fish, depending on the actual presence of the described deep lymphatics of cartilaginous fishes (Diamare, 1909; Hoyer, 1928*b*; Kampmeier, 1969) (Fig. 8). Given the common developmental origin, this vasculature can be assumed to have evolved from a subcompartment of the SVS. Interestingly, there are data suggesting a specialised function of the SVS in immune defence (Rasmussen, Steffensen & Buchmann, 2013), which would support the close evolutionary relationship between the SVS and immunity.

Later, in the tetrapod lineage, the blood pressure increase associated with the transition from poikilothermic to homeothermic temperature regulation likely required further adaptations, resulting in the loss of an SVS and the appearance of 'mammalian-like lymphatics'. In some of these scenarios, a mammalian-like LVS could have also existed before the water-to-land transition and the emergence of the tetrapod lineage. This point is supported by the vascular arrangement of lungfish. These animals do not appear to have an SVS and instead present mammalian-like lymphatics (Vogel & Mattheus, 1998; Skov & Bennett, 2003). It is important to highlight here that although today, lungfish live a 'semiaquatic' lifestyle, the common ancestor they share with



Fig. 8. The proposed model of secondary vascular system (SVS)/lymphatic evolution. A phylogenetic arrangement in which lungfish are the sister group to tetrapods and jawless fishes are a monophyletic group is assumed. The gill SVS is postulated to appear in stem vertebrates, in association with the increase in body size, followed by a systemic SVS appearing either before or after the split between jawed and jawless vertebrates, depending on the presence of a systemic SVS in the latter. The emergence of an adaptive immune system (AIS) in the lineage leading to jawed vertebrates created the need for a lymphatic-like vasculature, which emerged either before or after the split between bony and cartilaginous fishes, depending on the accuracy of the reports of deep lymphatics in the latter. The AIS of jawless fishes is not homologous with the AIS of jawed fish, but is the result of convergent evolution. In the lineage leading to lungfishes and tetrapods, the SVS was lost, and the lymphatic vasculature took on a defined 'mammalian-like' organisation. As represented in this figure, there are missing and contradictory data on the SVS and lymphatic organisation in several vertebrate groups, and further research will be needed to confirm or revoke the proposed model. LVS, lymphatic vascular system.

tetrapods is believed to have been fully aquatic (Long & Gordon, 2004; Long *et al.*, 2006). Save for a convergent loss of SVS structures and acquisition of mammalian-like lymphatics in both lineages, this suggests that the appearance of the latter is not associated with the water-to-land transition, but preceded it (Fig. 8). Efficient lymph nodes have only been observed in aquatic birds and in mammals, and might be the manifestation of increased demands upon the immune system in these lineages (Boehm, Hess & Swann, 2012). Until recently, it was assumed that teleost fish only possessed diffuse lymphoid tissues (Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021), but recent data suggest more defined lymphoid organs might be present in this group as well (Resseguier *et al.*, 2023). This observation stresses the importance of the AIS across vertebrates and its close connection with SVS/LVS evolution.

We are not the first to suggest an evolutionary origin of the LVS from the SVS (Steffensen & Lomholt, 1992; Vogel *et al.*, 1998). However, this model could potentially explain many of the character distributions we observe, such as the co-occurrence of an AIS and (deep) lymphatics within jawed vertebrates (Fig. 8). Due to the scarcity of data in many of the discussed phyla, our model is based on some assumptions, such as the presence of some form of SVS in jawless and cartilaginous fish, and we are aware further studies could overturn our conclusions. However, we believe it is essential to provide an evolutionary model for the emergence of the SVS and its relation with the LVS, which attempts to bring together and synthesise the vast amount of information that has been collected on this topic in more than a century, and

against which new data can be compared, either strengthening the model or revoking it.

XIV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Unanswered questions about the LVS in fishes go back more than 100 years. With recent data strongly supporting the presence of vessels with lymphatic characteristics in rayfinned fish, the question of the relationship between lymphatic vasculature and the SVS in these animals is more important than ever. This question transcends simple naming discussions because the underlying physiology and evolutionary forces are at the heart of the controversy.

(2) While ray-finned fishes and coelacanths possess some form of SVS, the data concerning jawless and cartilaginous fish are less clear. Whether vascular specialisations similar to the SVS exist in the gills of the above-mentioned fishes and whether such could represent the evolutionary origin of the SVS also remains controversial. We speculate that capillary filtration and the resulting requirement for tissue drainage are insufficient to explain the evolutionary emergence of the SVS. Instead, the primary evolutionary pressure for SVS-like adaptations is likely the need to maximise oxygen extraction and retention faced with a variable environmental supply. From a molecular perspective, all fishes, including the jawless fishes, possess sufficient molecular diversity to account for a dual vascular setup. They all feature haemangiogenic as 1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://anlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/htv.13114 by Michael Jeltsch - University Of Helsinki, Wiley Online Library on [08/09/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable/Creative Commons

well as lymphangiogenic vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and their cognate receptors (VEGFRs).

(3) The mammalian-like lymphatics and the SVS are evolutionarily related. In piscine embryonic development, the SVS appears to develop from pre-existing lymphatics, but the SVS seems to be phylogenetically older. Future research needs to determine the extent of lymphatic-to-blood vessel transdifferentiation in the embryonic development of fishes and how much and which parts of the embryonic lymphatic vasculature are maintained into adulthood. Preliminary data suggest that transdifferentiation varies and does so even in closely related species. (4) Similar to the lymphatic origin debate, also the SVS versus lymphatics debate will likely be resolved by a hybrid model, which was first proposed more than 100 years ago by Allen (1913) and Cole (1926). They proposed the term 'venolymphatic system', although both thought this mixed lymphatic/blood vascular system to be limited to hagfish and lampreys. Any model will have to transcend the binary categorisation into the cardiovascular and lymphatic vasculature that we have become accustomed to from our focus on mammalian biology.

(5) We propose an evolutionary model in which the SVS evolved in response to the increased limitations to oxygen supply connected with the larger size of early vertebrates. Consequent recruitment of part of these vessels into the AIS led to the appearance of lymphatic-like vessels with draining functions. In lungfish and tetrapods, the SVS was lost, leading to a mammalian-like lymphatic vascular network.

(6) The topic of the lymphatic and secondary vascular systems is no stranger to contradictory data. We hope this review will spark renewed interest in this long-lived controversy, providing the scientific community with a comprehensive overview of the anatomical, molecular, physiological, developmental and evolutionary observations and hopefully motivating a new effort in answering the many questions that remain unaddressed.

XV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Ameera Elawad for critical reading of this review. We also wish to acknowledge CSC (IT Center for Science, Finland) for the provisioning of computational resources in the generation of Fig. 7. The laboratory of M. J. was supported during this work by the Academy of Finland grant #337120. K. K. and V. P. were supported by Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation (2017.0144), Ragnar Söderberg Fellowship (M13/17), Swedish Research Council (VR-MH-2016-01437) and Kjell & Marta Beijers Foundation.

XVI. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M. J. and J. W. conceived the idea and drafted the initial structure. The writing was performed by Z. V., V. P., J. W.

and M. J. K. K. and V. P. were responsible for essential and significant changes in both structure and content. The writing was coordinated by M. J. All co-authors read and commented on drafts and approved the final version.

XVII. REFERENCES

- AASE, K., VON EULER, G., LI, X., PONTÉN, A., THORÉN, P., CAO, R., CAO, Y., OLOFSSON, B., GEBRE-MEDHIN, S., PEKNY, M., ALITALO, K., BETSHOLTZ, C. & ERIKSSON, U. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice display an atrial conduction defect. *Circulation* **104**, 358–364.
- ABTAHIAN, F., GUERRIERO, A., SEBZDA, E., LU, M.-M., ZHOU, R., MOCSAI, A., MYERS, E. E., HUANG, B., JACKSON, D. G., FERRARI, V. A., TYBULEWICZ, V., LOWELL, C. A., LEPORE, J. J., KORETZKY, G. A. & KAHN, M. L. (2003). Regulation of blood and lymphatic vascular separation by signaling proteins SLP-76 and Syk. *Science* **299**, 247–251.
- ACHEN, M. G., JELTSCH, M., KUKK, E., MÄKINEN, T., VITALI, A., WILKS, A. F., ALITALO, K. & STACKER, S. A. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 548–553.
- ALDERS, M., HOGAN, B. M., GJINI, E., SALEHI, F., AL-GAZALI, L., HENNEKAM, E. A., HOLMBERG, E. E., MANNENS, M. M. A. M., MULDER, M. F., OFFERHAUS, G. J. A., PRESCOTT, T. E., SCHROOR, E. J., VERHEIJ, J. B. G. M., WITTE, M., ZWIJNENBURG, P. J., *ET AL.* (2009). Mutations in CCBE1 cause generalized lymph vessel dysplasia in humans. *Nature Genetics* **41**, 1272–1274.
- ALLEN, W. F. (1913). Studies on the development of the venolymphatics in the tail region of Pollistotrema (Bdellostoma) stoutii. Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science 59, 309–360.
- ASPELUND, A., TAMMELA, T., ANTILA, S., NURMI, H., LEPPÄNEN, V.-M., ZARKADA, G., STANCZUK, L., FRANCOIS, M., MÄKINEN, T., SAHARINEN, P., IMMONEN, I. & ALITALO, K. (2014). The Schlemm's canal is a VEGF-C/VEGFR-3-responsive lymphatic-like vessel. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124, 3975–3986.
- ASTIN, J. W., HAGGERTY, M. J. L., OKUDA, K. S., LE GUEN, L., MISA, J. P., TROMP, A., HOGAN, B. M., CROSIER, K. E. & CROSIER, P. S. (2014). Vegfd can compensate for loss of Vegfc in zebrafish facial lymphatic sprouting. *Development* 141, 2680–2690.
- BALDWIN, M. E., CATIMEL, B., NICE, E. C., ROUFAIL, S., HALL, N. E., STENVERS, K. L., KARKKAINEN, M. J., ALITALO, K., STACKER, S. A. & ACHEN, M. G. (2001). The specificity of receptor binding by vascular endothelial growth factor-D is different in mouse and man. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 19166–19171.
- BALDWIN, M. E., HALFORD, M. M., ROUFAIL, S., WILLIAMS, R. A., HIBBS, M. L., GRAIL, D., KUBO, H., STACKER, S. A. & ACHEN, M. G. (2005). Vascular endothelial growth factor D is dispensable for development of the lymphatic system. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 25, 2441–2449.
- BANERJI, S., NI, J., WANG, S.-X., CLASPER, S., SU, J., TAMMI, R., JONES, M. & JACKSON, D. G. (1999). LYVE-1, a new homologue of the CD44 glycoprotein, is a lymph-specific receptor for hyaluronan. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **144**, 789–801.
- BAZIGOU, E., XIE, S., CHEN, C., WESTON, A., MIURA, N., SOROKIN, L., ADAMS, R., MURO, A. F., SHEPPARD, D. & MAKINEN, T. (2009). Integrin-α9 is required for fibronectin matrix assembly during lymphatic valve morphogenesis. *Developmental Cell* 17, 175–186.
- BECKER, L. M., CHEN, S.-H., RODOR, J., DE ROOIJ, L. P. M. H., BAKER, A. H. & CARMELIET, P. (2023). Deciphering endothelial heterogeneity in health and disease at single-cell resolution: progress and perspectives. *Cardiovascular Research* 119, 6–27.
- BELLOMO, D., HEADRICK, J. P., SILINS, G. U., PATERSON, C. A., THOMAS, P. S., GARTSIDE, M., MOULD, A., CAHILL, M. M., TONKS, I. D., GRIMMOND, S. M., TOWNSON, S., WELLS, C., LITTLE, M., CUMMINGS, M. C., HAYWARD, N. K., *ET AL.* (2000). Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. *Circulation Research* 86, E29–E35.
- BÉNÉZECH, C., NAYAR, S., FINNEY, B. A., WITHERS, D. R., LOWE, K., DESANTI, G. E., MARRIOTT, C. L., WATSON, S. P., CAAMAÑO, J. H., BUCKLEY, C. D. & BARONE, F. (2014). CLEC-2 is required for development and maintenance of lymph nodes. *Blood* **123**, 3200–3207.
- BERNIER-LATMANI, J. & PETROVA, T. V. (2017). Intestinal lymphatic vasculature: structure, mechanisms and functions. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 14, 510–526.
- BETANCUR-R, R., WILEY, E. O., ARRATIA, G., ACERO, A., BAILLY, N., MIYA, M., LECOINTRE, G. & ORTÍ, G. (2017). Phylogenetic classification of bony fishes. BMC Evolutionary Biology 17, 162.

BJØRGEN, H. & KOPPANG, E. O. (2021). Anatomy of teleost fish immune structures and organs. *Immunogenetics* 73, 53–63.

- BOEHM, T., HESS, I. & SWANN, J. B. (2012). Evolution of lymphoid tissues. Trends in Immunology 33, 315-321.
- BOS, F. L., CAUNT, M., PETERSON-MADURO, J., PLANAS-PAZ, L., KOWALSKI, J., KARPANEN, T., VAN IMPEL, A., TONG, R., ERNST, J. A., KORVING, J., ES, J. H. V., LAMMERT, E., DUCKERS, H. J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2011). CCBE1 is essential for mammalian lymphatic vascular development and enhances the lymphangiogenic effect of vascular endothelial growth factor-C in vivo. *Circulation Research* 109, 486–491.
- BOSCH, T. C. G. (2014). Rethinking the role of immunity: lessons from Hydra. Trends in Immunology 35, 495–502.
- BOWER, N. I., KOLTOWSKA, K., PICHOL-THIEVEND, C., VIRSHUP, I., PATERSON, S., LAGENDIJK, A. K., WANG, W., LINDSEY, B. W., BENT, S. J., BAEK, S., RONDON-GALEANO, M., HURLEY, D. G., MOCHIZUKI, N., SIMONS, C., FRANCOIS, M., *ET AL.* (2017*a*). Mural lymphatic endothelial cells regulate meningeal angiogenesis in the zebrafish. *Nature Neuroscience* 20, 774–783.
- BOWER, N. I., VOGRIN, A. J., GUEN, L. L., CHEN, H., STACKER, S. A., ACHEN, M. G. & HOGAN, B. M. (2017b). Vegfd modulates both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis during zebrafish embryonic development. *Development* 144, 507–518.
- BRACE, A. J., LAJEUNESSE, M. J., ARDIA, D. R., HAWLEY, D. M., ADELMAN, J. S., BUCHANAN, K. L., FAIR, J. M., GRINDSTAFF, J. L., MATSON, K. D. & MARTIN, L. B. (2017). Costs of immune responses are related to host body size and lifespan. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology* 327, 254–261.
- BREITENEDER-GELEFF, S., SOLEIMAN, A., KOWALSKI, H., HORVAT, R., AMANN, G., KRIEHUBER, E., DIEM, K., WENINGER, W., TSCHACHLER, E., ALITALO, K. & KERJASCHKI, D. (1999). Angiosarcomas express mixed endothelial phenotypes of blood and lymphatic capillaries: podoplanin as a specific marker for lymphatic endothelium. *The American Journal of Pathology* 154, 385–394.
- BRENNER, E. (2018). Das Lymphsystem und das Starlingsche Gleichgewicht. Lymphologie in Forschung und Praxis 22, 9–13.
- BRESLIN, J. W., YANG, Y., SCALLAN, J. P., SWEAT, R. S., ADDERLEY, S. P. & MURFEE, W. L. (2018). Lymphatic vessel network structure and physiology. *Comprehensive Physiology* 9, 207–299.
- BROUILLARD, P., DUPONT, L., HELAERS, R., COULIE, R., TILLER, G. E., PEEDEN, J., COLIGE, A. & VIKKULA, M. (2017). Loss of ADAMTS3 activity causes Hennekam lymphangiectasia–lymphedema syndrome 3. *Human Molecular Genetics* 26, 4095– 4104.
- BRYANT, B. J. (1977). Chapter 6: the development of the lymphatic and immunohematopoietic systems. In *The Biology of Marsupials*, pp. 349–385. Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London.
- BURGGREN, W. W. & REIBER, C. L. (2007). Evolution of cardiovascular systems and their endothelial linings. In *Endothelial Biomedicine*, pp. 29–49. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, São Paulo.
- BURNE, R. H. (1926). A contribution to the anatomy of the ductless glands and lymphatic system of the angler fish (Lophius piscatorius). Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B 215, 1–56.
- BURNE, R. H. (1929). A system of 'fine' vessels associated with the lymphatics in the cod (Gadus morthua). Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character 217, 335–366.
- BUSSMANN, J., BAKKERS, J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2007). Early endocardial morphogenesis requires Scl/Tall. *PLoS Genetics* 3, e140.
- BUSSMANN, J., BOS, F. L., URASAKI, A., KAWAKAMI, K., DUCKERS, H. J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2010). Arteries provide essential guidance cues for lymphatic endothelial cells in the zebrafish trunk. *Development* 137, 2653–2657.
- BUSSMANN, J., LAWSON, N., ZON, L. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2008). Zebrafish VEGF receptors: a guideline to nomenclature. *PLoS Genetics* 4, e1000064.
- CAO, Y., LINDEN, P., FARNEBO, J., CAO, R., ERIKSSON, A., KUMAR, V., QI, J.-H., CLAESSON-WELSH, L. & ALITALO, K. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor C induces angiogenesis in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America **95**, 14389–14394.
- CARMELIET, P., FERREIRA, V., BREIER, G., POLLEFEYT, S., KIECKENS, L., GERTSENSTEIN, M., FAHRIG, M., VANDENHOECK, A., HARPAL, K., EBERHARDT, C., DECLERCQ, C., PAWLING, J., MOONS, L., COLLEN, D., RISAU, W., *ET AL.* (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* **380**, 435–439.
- CARMELIET, P., MOONS, L., LUTTUN, A., VINCENTI, V., COMPERNOLLE, V., DE MOL, M., WU, Y., BONO, F., DEVY, L., BECK, H., SCHOLZ, D., ACKER, T., DIPALMA, T., DEWERCHIN, M., NOEL, A., *ET AL.* (2001). Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. *Nature Medicine* 7, 575–583.

- CASLEY-SMITH, J. R. & CASLEY-SMITH, J. R. (1975). The fine structure of the blood capillaries of some endocrine glands of the hagfish, *Eplattetus stouti*: implications for the evolution of blood and lymph vessels. *Revue Suisse de Zoologie* 82, 35–40.
- CASTRANOVA, D., SAMASA, B., VENERO GALANTERNIK, M., JUNG, H. M., PHAM, V. N. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2021). Live imaging of intracranial lymphatics in the zebrafish. *Circulation Research* **128**, 42–58.
- CHA, Y. R., FUJITA, M., BUTLER, M., ISOGAI, S., KOCHHAN, E., SIEKMANN, A. F. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2012). Chemokine signaling directs trunk lymphatic network formation along the preexisting blood vasculature. *Developmental Cell* 22, 824–836.
- CHEN, C.-Y., BERTOZZI, C., ZOU, Z., YUAN, L., LEE, J. S., LU, M., STACHELEK, S. J., SRINIVASAN, S., GUO, L., VINCENTE, A., MERICKO, P., LEVY, R. J., MAKINEN, T., OLIVER, G. & KAHN, M. L. (2012). Blood flow reprograms lymphatic vessels to blood vessels. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **122**, 2006–2017.
- CHEN, J., HE, J., NI, R., YANG, Q., ZHANG, Y. & LUO, L. (2019). Cerebrovascular injuries induce lymphatic invasion into brain parenchyma to guide vascular regeneration in zebrafish. *Developmental Cell* 49, 697–710.e5.
- COFFINDAFFER-WILSON, M., CRAIG, M. P. & HOVE, J. R. (2011). Determination of lymphatic vascular identity and developmental timecourse in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Lymphology* 44, 1–12.
- COHEN, B., TEMPELHOF, H., RAZ, T., OREN, R., NICENBOIM, J., BOCHNER, F., EVEN, R., JELINSKI, A., EILAM, R., BEN-DOR, S., ADADDI, Y., GOLANI, O., LAZAR, S., YANIV, K. & NEEMAN, M. (2020). BACH family members regulate angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis by modulating VEGFC expression. *Life Science Alliance* 3, e202000666.
- COLE, F. J. (1926). IV.—A monograph on the general morphology of the myxinoid fishes, based on a study of Myxine. Part VI. The morphology of the vascular system. Earth and Environmental Science Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh 54, 309–342.
- DAS, R. N., TEVET, Y., SAFRIEL, S., HAN, Y., MOSHE, N., LAMBIASE, G., BASSI, I., NICENBOIM, J., BRÜCKNER, M., HIRSCH, D., EILAM-ALTSTADTER, R., HERZOG, W., AVRAHAM, R., POSS, K. D. & YANIV, K. (2022). Generation of specialized blood vessels via lymphatic transdifferentiation. *Nature* **606**, 570–575.
- DIAMARE, V. (1909). Su' rapporti della vena porta e delle arterie splancniche in Scyllium catulus e Torpedo marmorata. Anatomischer Anzeiger 34, 552–559.
- DONALD, J. A. (1989). Vascular anatomy of the gills of the stingarees Urolophus mucosus and U. paucimaculatus (Urolophidae, Elasmobranchii). Journal of Morphology 200, 37–46.
- DONALD, J. A. & ELLIS, A. G. (1983). Arterio-venous anastomoses in the gills of Australian short-finned eel, Anguilla australis. Journal of Morphology 178, 89–93.
- DUNWORTH, W. P., CARDONA-COSTA, J., BOZKULAK, E. C., KIM, J.-D., MEADOWS, S., FISCHER, J. C., WANG, Y., CLEAVER, O., QVANG, Y., OBER, E. A. & JIN, S.-W. (2014). Bone morphogenetic protein 2 signaling negatively modulates lymphatic development in vertebrate embryos. *Circulation Research* 114, 56–66.
- EJSMOND, M. J., RADWAN, J., EJSMOND, A., GACZOREK, T. & BABIK, W. (2023). Adaptive immune response selects for postponed maturation and increased body size. *Functional Ecology* 37, 2883–2894.
- ELIASON, E. J. & STECYK, J. A. W. (2021). The cardiovascular system. In *The Physiology of Fishes*, pp. 47–62. CRC Press, Hoboken.
- ELMAGID, L. A., MITTAL, N., BAKIS, I., LIEN, C.-L. & HARRISON, M. R. (2022). Intramyocardial injection for the study of cardiac lymphatic function in zebrafish. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, **187**, e64504.
- ENG, T. C., CHEN, W., OKUDA, K. S., MISA, J. P., PADBERG, Y., CROSIER, K. E., CROSIER, P. S., HALL, C. J., SCHULTE-MERKER, S., HOGAN, B. M. & ASTIN, J. W. (2019). Zebrafish facial lymphatics develop through sequential addition of venous and non-venous progenitors. *EMBO Reports* 20, e47079.
- EVANS, D. H., PIERMARINI, P. M. & CHOE, K. P. (2005). The multifunctional fish gill: dominant site of gas exchange, osmoregulation, acid-base regulation, and excretion of nitrogenous waste. *Physiological Reviews* 85, 97–177.
- FERRARA, N., CARVER-MOORE, K., CHEN, H., DOWD, M., LU, L., O'SHEA, K. S., POWELL-BRAXTON, L., HILLAN, K. J. & MOORE, M. W. (1996). Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature* 380, 439–442.
- FERRELL, R. E., BATY, C. J., KIMAK, M. A., KARLSSON, J. M., LAWRENCE, E. C., FRANKE-SNYDER, M., MERINEY, S. D., FEINGOLD, E. & FINEGOLD, D. N. (2010). GJC2 missense mutations cause human lymphedema. *The American Journal* of Human Genetics 86, 943–948.
- FLAJNIK, M. F. & KASAHARA, M. (2010). Origin and evolution of the adaptive immune system: genetic events and selective pressures. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 11, 47–59.
- GALANTERNIK, M. V., CASTRANOVA, D., GORE, A. V., BLEWETT, N. H., JUNG, H. M., STRATMAN, A. N., KIRBY, M. R., IBEN, J., MILLER, M. F., KAWAKAMI, K., MARAIA, R. J. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2017). A novel perivascular cell population in the zebrafish brain. *eLife* 6, e24369.
- GANCZ, D., RAFTREY, B. C., PERLMOTER, G., MARÍN-JUEZ, R., SEMO, J., MATSUOKA, R. L., KARRA, R., RAVIV, H., MOSHE, N., ADDADI, Y., GOLANI, O., POSS, K. D., RED-HORSE, K., STAINIER, D. Y. & YANIV, K. (2019). Distinct

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

origins and molecular mechanisms contribute to lymphatic formation during cardiac growth and regeneration. *eLife* **8**, e44153.

- GANS, C. & BELL, C. J. (2013). Vertebrates, Overview. In *Encyclopedia of Biodiversity*, pp. 55–65. Chichester, England: Elsevier.
- GLASER, G. (1933). Beiträge zur Kenntnis des Lymphgefäßsystems der Fische. Zeitschrift für Anatomie und Entwicklungsgeschichte 100, 433–511.
- GORDON, K., SCHULTE, D., BRICE, G., SIMPSON, M. A., ROUKENS, M. G., VAN IMPEL, A., CONNELL, F., KALIDAS, K., JEFFERY, S., MORTIMER, P. S., MANSOUR, S., SCHULTE-MERKER, S. & OSTERGAARD, P. (2013). Mutation in vascular endothelial growth factor-C, a ligand for vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3, is associated with autosomal dominant Milroy-like primary lymphedema. *Circulation Research* **112**, 956–960.
- GORE, A. V., MONZO, K., CHA, Y. R., PAN, W. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2012). Vascular development in the zebrafish. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* 2, a006684.
- GRIMM, L., MASON, E., YU, H., DUDCZIG, S., PANARA, V., CHEN, T., BOWER, N. I., PATERSON, S., RONDON GALEANO, M., KOBAYASHI, S., SENABOUTH, A., LAGENDIJK, A. K., POWELL, J., SMITH, K. A., OKUDA, K. S., *ET AL.* (2023). Single-cell analysis of lymphatic endothelial cell fate specification and differentiation during zebrafish development. *The EMBO Journal* 42, e112590.
- GRODZIŃSKI, Z. (1932). Bemerkungungen über das Lymphgefässsystem von Myxine glutinosa L. Bulletin International de l'Académie Polonaise des Sciences et des Lettres, Classe des Sciences Mathématiques et Naturelles. Serie B 7, 221–236.
- GUTIERREZ-MIRANDA, L. & YANIV, K. (2020). Cellular origins of the lymphatic endothelium: implications for cancer lymphangiogenesis. *Frontiers in Physiology* 11, 577584.
- HÄGERLING, R., POLLMANN, C., ANDREAS, M., SCHMIDT, C., NURMI, H., ADAMS, R. H., ALITALO, K., ANDRESEN, V., SCHULTE-MERKER, S. & KIEFER, F. (2013). A novel multistep mechanism for initial lymphangiogenesis in mouse embryos based on ultramicroscopy. *The EMBO Journal* 32, 629–644.
- HAIKO, P., MAKINEN, T., KESKITALO, S., TAIPALE, J., KARKKAINEN, M. J., BALDWIN, M. E., STACKER, S. A., ACHEN, M. G. & ALITALO, K. (2008). Deletion of vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGF-C) and VEGF-D is not equivalent to VEGF receptor 3 deletion in mouse embryos. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 28, 4843–4850.
- HAINING, E. J., LOWE, K. L., WICHAIYO, S., KATARU, R. P., NAGY, Z., KAVANAGH, D. P., LAX, S., DI, Y., NIESWANDT, B., HO-TIN-NOÉ, B., MEHRARA, B. J., SENIS, Y. A., RAYES, J. & WATSON, S. P. (2021). Lymphatic blood filling in CLEC-2-deficient mouse models. *Platelets* **32**, 352–367.
- HARGENS, A. R., MILLARD, R. W. & JOHANSEN, K. (1974). High capillary permeability in fishes. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 48, 675–680.
- HARRISON, M. R., FENG, X., MO, G., AGUAYO, A., VILLAFUERTE, J., YOSHIDA, T., PEARSON, C. A., SCHULTE-MERKER, S. & LIEN, C.-L. (2019). Late developing cardiac lymphatic vasculature supports adult zebrafish heart function and regeneration. *eLife* 8, e42762.
- HEDRICK, M. S., HANSEN, K., WANG, T., LAURIDSEN, H., THYGESEN, J. & PEDERSEN, M. (2014). Visualising lymph movement in anuran amphibians with computed tomography. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **217**, 2990–2993.
- HEDRICK, M. S., HILLMAN, S. S., DREWES, R. C. & WITHERS, P. C. (2013). Lymphatic regulation in nonmammalian vertebrates. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 115, 297–308.
- HELLBERG, H., BJERKÅS, I., VÅGNES, Ø. B. & NOGA, E. J. (2013). Mast cells in common wolffish Anarhichas lupus L: ontogeny, distribution and association with lymphatic vessels. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 35, 1769–1778.
- HENTSCHEL, D. M., PARK, K. M., CILENTI, L., ZERVOS, A. S., DRUMMOND, I. & BONVENTRE, J. V. (2005). Acute renal failure in zebrafish: a novel system to study a complex disease. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology* 288, F923–F929.
- HERMANS, K., CLAES, F., VANDEVELDE, W., ZHENG, W., GEUDENS, I., ORSENIGO, F., DE SMET, F., GJINI, E., ANTHONIS, K., REN, B., KERJASCHKI, D., AUTIERO, M., NY, A., SIMONS, M., DEWERCHIN, M., *ET AL.* (2010). Role of synectin in lymphatic development in zebrafish and frogs. *Blood* **116**, 3356–3366.
- HESS, P. R., RAWNSLEY, D. R., JAKUS, Z., YANG, Y., SWEET, D. T., FU, J., HERZOG, B., LU, M., NIESWANDT, B., OLIVER, G., MAKINEN, T., XIA, L. & KAHN, M. L. (2014). Platelets mediate lymphovenous hemostasis to maintain blood-lymphatic separation throughout life. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124, 273–284.
- HEWSON, W. (1769). XXIX. An account of the lymphatic system in fish. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 59, 204–215.
- HILLMAN, S. S., DREWES, R. C. & HEDRICK, M. S. (2021). Control of blood volume following hypovolemic challenge in vertebrates: Transcapillary versus lymphatic mechanisms. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 254, 110878.
- Ho, S.-Y., THORPE, J. L., DENG, Y., SANTANA, E., DEROSE, R. A. & FARBER, S. A. (2004). Lipid metabolism in zebrafish. In *Methods in Cell Biology*, pp. 87–108. Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London.

- HOGAN, B. M., BOS, F. L., BUSSMANN, J., WITTE, M., CHI, N. C., DUCKERS, H. J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2009a). Ccbel is required for embryonic lymphangiogenesis and venous sprouting. *Nature Genetics* **41**, 396–398.
- HOGAN, B. M., HERPERS, R., WITTE, M., HELOTERÄ, H., ALITALO, K., DUCKERS, H. J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2009b). Vegfc/Flt4 signalling is suppressed by Dll4 in developing zebrafish intersegmental arteries. *Development* 136, 4001–4009.
- HOLETON, G. F. (1980). Oxygen as an environmental factor of fishes. In *Environmental Physiology of Fishes*, pp. 7–32. Springer, New York.
- HOLMES, D. I. & ZACHARY, I. (2005). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. *Genome Biology* 6, 209.
- HOYER, H. (1928a). On the lymphatic vessels of Scyllium canicula. The Anatomical Record 40, 143–145.
- HOYER, H. & MICHALSKI, L. (1920). Das Lymphgefäßsystem von Forellenembryonen nebst Bemerkungen über die Verteilung der Blutgefäße. *Gegenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch* 51, 1–89.
- HOYER, H. F. (1928b). Recherches sur les vaisseaux lymphatiques des Sélaciens. Bulletin L'Académie Polonaise des Science, Classe des Sciences Mathématiques et Naturelles, Serie B 2, 79–104.
- HUANG, C.-C., MONTE, A., COOK, J. M., KABIR, M. S. & PETERSON, K. P. (2013a). Zebrafish heart failure models for the evaluation of chemical probes and drugs. *Assay and Drug Development Technologies* 11, 561–572.
- HUANG, H., JIN, T., WANG, L., WANG, F., ZHANG, R., PAN, Y., WANG, Z. & CHEN, Y. (2013b). The RAS guanyl nucleotide-releasing protein RasGRP1 is involved in lymphatic development in zebrafish. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288, 2355–2364.
- HUELSMANN, M., HECKER, N., SPRINGER, M. S., GATESY, J., SHARMA, V. & HILLER, M. (2019). Genes lost during the transition from land to water in cetaceans highlight genomic changes associated with aquatic adaptations. *Science Advances* 5, eaaw6671.
- HUGHES, C. E., RADHAKRISHNAN, U. P., LORDKIPANIDZÉ, M., EGGINTON, S., DIJKSTRA, J. M., JAGADEESWARAN, P. & WATSON, S. P. (2012). G6f-like is an ITAM-containing collagen receptor in thrombocytes. *PLoS One* 7, e52622.
- HUGHES, G. M., PEYRAUD, C., PEYRAUD-WAITZENEGGER, M. & SOULIER, P. (1982). Physiological evidence for the occurrence of pathways shunting blood away from the secondary lamellae of eel gills. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **98**, 277–288.
- HUISMAN, Y., UPHOFF, K., BERGER, M., DOBRINDT, U., SCHELHAAS, M., ZOBEL, T., BUSSMANN, J., VAN IMPEL, A. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2022). Meningeal lymphatic endothelial cells fulfill scavenger endothelial cell function and cooperate with microglia in waste removal from the brain. *Glia* **70**, 35–49.
- HUNTINGTON, G. S. & MCCLURE, C. F. W. (1910). The anatomy and development of the jugular lymph sacs in the domestic cat (*Felis domestica*). American Journal of Anatomy 10, 177–312.
- HUSSMANN, M., SCHULTE, D., WEISCHER, S., CARLANTONI, C., NAKAJIMA, H., MOCHIZUKI, N., STAINIER, D. Y., ZOBEL, T., KOCH, M. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2023). Svep1 is a binding ligand of Tiel and affects specific aspects of facial lymphatic development in a Vegfc-independent manner. *eLife* 12, e82969.
- HUXLEY, V. H. & SCALLAN, J. (2011). Lymphatic fluid: exchange mechanisms and regulation. *The Journal of Physiology* 589, 2935–2943.
- ISHIMATSU, A., IWAMA, G. K. & HEISLER, N. (1995). Physiological roles of the secondary circulatory system in fish. In *Mechanisms of Systemic Regulation: Respiration* and Circulation, pp. 215–236. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- ISOGAI, S., HITOMI, J., YANIV, K. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2009). Zebrafish as a new animal model to study lymphangiogenesis. *Anatomical Science International* 84, 102–111.
- ISOGAI, S., HORIGUCHI, M. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2001). The vascular anatomy of the developing zebrafish: an atlas of embryonic and early larval development. *Developmental Biology* 230, 278–301.
- ISOGAI, S., LAWSON, N. D., TORREALDAY, S., HORIGUCHI, M. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2003). Angiogenic network formation in the developing vertebrate trunk. *Development* 130, 5281–5290.
- JANARDHAN, H. P. & TRIVEDI, C. M. (2019). Establishment and maintenance of blood-lymph separation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 76, 1865–1876.
- JANSSEN, L., DUPONT, L., BEKHOUCHE, M., NOEL, A., LEDUC, C., VOZ, M., PEERS, B., CATALDO, D., APTE, S. S., DUBAIL, J. & COLIGE, A. (2016). ADAMTS3 activity is mandatory for embryonic lymphangiogenesis and regulates placental angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis* 19, 53–65.
- JELTSCH, M. (2002). VEGFR-3 ligands and lymphangiogenesis. Doctoral Thesis: University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland.
- JELTSCH, M. & ALITALO, K. (2022). Lymphatic-to-blood vessel transdifferentiation in zebrafish. *Nature Cardiovascular Research* 1, 539–541.
- JELTSCH, M., JHA, S. K., TVOROGOV, D., ANISIMOV, A., LEPPÄNEN, V.-M., HOLOPAINEN, T., KIVELÄ, R., ORTEGA, S., KÄRPANEN, T. & ALITALO, K. (2014). CCBE1 enhances lymphangiogenesis via a disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin motifs-3-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor-C activation. *Circulation* 129, 1962–1971.
- JENSEN, L. D., NAKAMURA, M., BRÄUTIGAM, L., LI, X., LIU, Y., SAMANI, N. J. & CAO, Y. (2015). VEGF-B-Neuropilin-1 signaling is spatiotemporally indispensable

for vascular and neuronal development in zebrafish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112, E5944–E5953.

- JENSEN, L. D. E., CAO, R., HEDLUND, E.-M., SÖLL, I., LUNDBERG, J. O., HAUPTMANN, G., STEFFENSEN, J. F. & CAO, Y. (2009). Nitric oxide permits hypoxia-induced lymphatic perfusion by controlling arterial-lymphatic conduits in zebrafish and glass catfish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 18408–18413.
- JERAFI-VIDER, A., BASSI, I., MOSHE, N., TEVET, Y., HEN, G., SPLITTSTOESSER, D., SHIN, M., LAWSON, N. D. & YANIV, K. (2021). VEGFC/FLT4-induced cell-cycle arrest mediates sprouting and differentiation of venous and lymphatic endothelial cells. *Cell Reports* 35, 109255.
- JHA, S. K., RAUNIYAR, K., CHRONOWSKA, E., MATTONET, K., MAINA, E. W., KOISTINEN, H., STENMAN, U.-H., ALITALO, K. & JELTSCH, M. (2019). KLK3/PSA and cathepsin D activate VEGF-C and VEGF-D. *eLife* 8, e44478.
- JHA, S. K., RAUNIYAR, K. & JELTSCH, M. (2018). Key molecules in lymphatic development, function, and identification. *Annals of Anatomy-Anatomischer Anzeiger* 219, 25–34.
- JHA, S. K., RAUNIYAR, K., KARPANEN, T., LEPPÄNEN, V.-M., BROUILLARD, P., VIKKULA, M., ALITALO, K. & JELTSCH, M. (2017). Efficient activation of the lymphangiogenic growth factor VEGF-C requires the C-terminal domain of VEGF-C and the N-terminal domain of CCBE1. Scientific Reports 7, 4916.
- JIANG, X.-Y., SARSONS, C. D., GOMEZ-GARCIA, M. J., CRAMB, D. T., RINKER, K. D. & CHILDS, S. J. (2017). Quantum dot interactions and flow effects in angiogenic zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) vessels and human endothelial cells. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine* 13, 999–1010.
- JOHANSEN, K., FÄNGE, R. & JOHANNESSEN, M. W. (1962). Relations between blood, sinus fluid and lymph in *Myxine glutinosa* L. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 7, 23–28.
- JOHNSON, L. A. (2021). In sickness and in health: the immunological roles of the lymphatic system. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22, 4458.
- Joss, J. M. (2006). Lungfish evolution and development. General and Comparative Endocrinology 148, 285–289.
- JOURDAIN, S. (1868). Coup-d'oeil sur le système veineux et lymphatique de la Raie bouclée. Annales de l'Académie de La Rochelle Section des Sciences Naturelles. 8, 21–34.
- JOURDAIN, S. (1880). Sur l'existence d'une circulation lymphatique chez les Pleuronectes. Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences 90, 1430–1432.
- JUNG, H. M., CASTRANOVA, D., SWIFT, M. R., PHAM, V. N., VENERO GALANTERNIK, M., ISOGAI, S., BUTLER, M. G., MULLIGAN, T. S. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2017). Development of the larval lymphatic system in zebrafish. *Development* 144, 2070–2081.
- KAIPAINEN, A., KORHONEN, J., MUSTONEN, T., VAN HINSBERGH, V. W., FANG, G. H., DUMONT, D., BREITMAN, M. & ALITALO, K. (1995). Expression of the fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92, 3566–3570.
- KAMEI, M., BRIAN SAUNDERS, W., BAYLESS, K. J., DYE, L., DAVIS, G. E. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2006). Endothelial tubes assemble from intracellular vacuoles in vivo. *Nature* 442, 453–456.
- KAMEL, K. S. & HALPERIN, M. L. (2017). Sodium and water physiology. In Fluid, Electrolyte, and Acid-Base Physiology: A Problem-Based Approach, pp. 216–254. Elsevier, Philadelphia.
- KAMPMEIER, O. F. (1969). Evolution and Comparative Morphology of the Lymphatic System. Thomas, Springfield.
- KARAM, M., JANBON, H., MALKINSON, G. & BRUNET, I. (2022). Heterogeneity and developmental dynamics of LYVE-1 perivascular macrophages distribution in the mouse brain. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* 42, 1797–1812.
- KARKKAINEN, M. J., HAIKO, P., SAINIO, K., PARTANEN, J., TAIPALE, J., PETROVA, T. V., JELTSCH, M., JACKSON, D. G., TALIKKA, M., RAUVALA, H., BETSHOLTZ, C. & ALITALO, K. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor C is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. *Nature Immunology* 5, 74–80.
- KASAP, M. (2005). Phylogenetic analysis of vascular endothelial growth factor diversity. *Turkish Journal of Biology* 29, 217–227.
- KAZENWADEL, J., VENUGOPAL, P., OSZMIANA, A., TOUBIA, J., ARRIOLA-MARTINEZ, L., PANARA, V., PILTZ, S. G., BROWN, C., MA, W., SCHREIBER, A. W., KOLTOWSKA, K., TAOUDI, S., THOMAS, P. Q., SCOTT, H. S. & HARVEY, N. L. (2023). A Proxl enhancer represses haematopoiesis in the lymphatic vasculature. *Nature* **614**, 343–348.
- KENIG-KOZLOVSKY, Y., SCOTT, R. P., ONAY, T., CAROTA, I. A., THOMSON, B. R., GIL, H. J., RAMIREZ, V., YAMAGUCHI, S., TANNA, C. E., HEINEN, S., WU, C., STAN, R. V., KLEIN, J. D., SANDS, J. M., OLIVER, G., *et al.* (2018). Ascending vasa recta are angiopoietin/Tie2-dependent lymphatic-like vessels. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 29, 1097–1107.
- KING, J. A. C. & HOSSLER, F. E. (1986). The gill arch of the striped bass, Morone Saxatilis. II. Microvasculature studied with vascular corrosion casting and scanning electron microscopy. Scanning Electron Microscopy 1986, 26.

- KIRSCH, R. & NONNOTTE, G. (1977). Cutaneous respiration in three freshwater teleosts. *Respiration Physiology* 29, 339–354.
- KLOTZ, L., NORMAN, S., VIEIRA, J. M., MASTERS, M., ROHLING, M., DUBÉ, K. N., BOLLINI, S., MATSUZAKI, F., CARR, C. A. & RILEY, P. R. (2015). Cardiac lymphatics are heterogeneous in origin and respond to injury. *Nature* 522, 62–67.
- KNEZEVIC, L., SCHAUPPER, M., MÜHLEDER, S., SCHIMEK, K., HASENBERG, T., MARX, U., PRIGLINGER, E., REDL, H. & HOLNTHONER, W. (2017). Engineering blood and lymphatic microvascular networks in fibrin matrices. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 5, 25.
- KOLTOWSKA, K., LAGENDIJK, A. K., PICHOL-THIEVEND, C., FISCHER, J. C., FRANCOIS, M., OBER, E. A., YAP, A. S. & HOGAN, B. M. (2015). Vegfc regulates bipotential precursor division and Prox1 expression to promote lymphatic identity in zebrafish. *Cell Reports* 13, 1828–1841.
- KROGH, A. (1904). Some experiments on the cutaneous respiration of vertebrate animals. Skandinavisches Archiv für Physiologie 16, 348–357.
- KÜCHLER, A. M., GJINI, E., PETERSON-MADURO, J., CANCILLA, B., WOLBURG, H. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2006). Development of the zebrafish lymphatic system requires Vegfc signaling. *Current Biology* 16, 1244–1248.
- KÜNNAPUU, J., BOKHARAIE, H. & JELTSCH, M. (2021). Proteolytic cleavages in the VEGF family: generating diversity among angiogenic VEGFs, essential for the activation of lymphangiogenic VEGFs. *Biology* **10**, 167.
- LAHNSTEINER, F., LAMETSCHWANDTNER, A. & PATZNER, R. A. (1989). The secondary blood vessel system of segmental arteries and dorsal aorta in *Blemius* pavo and *Zosterisessor ophiocephalus*. Histology, fine structure and SEM of vascular corrosion casts. *Scanning Microscopy* 4, 11.
- LAURENT, P., DUNEL, S. & BARTHE, J.-C. (1976). Functional organization of the teleost gill. Acta Zoologica 57, 189–209.
- LAWSON, N. D., MUGFORD, J. W., DIAMOND, B. A. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2003). Phospholipase C gamma-1 is required downstream of vascular endothelial growth factor during arterial development. *Genes & Development* 17, 1346–1351.
- LE GUEN, L., KARPANEN, T., SCHULTE, D., HARRIS, N. C., KOLTOWSKA, K., ROUKENS, G., BOWER, N. I., VAN IMPEL, A., STACKER, S. A., ACHEN, M. G., SCHULTE-MERKER, S. & HOGAN, B. M. (2014). Ccbel regulates Vegfc-mediated induction of Vegfr3 signaling during embryonic lymphangiogenesis. *Development* 141, 1239–1249.
- LEPPÄNEN, V.-M., JELTSCH, M., ANISIMOV, A., TVOROGOV, D., AHO, K., KALKKINEN, N., TOIVANEN, P., YLÄ-HERTTUALA, S., BALLMER-HOFER, K. & ALITALO, K. (2011). Structural determinants of vascular endothelial growth factor-D receptor binding and specificity. *Blood* 117, 1507–1515.
- LEU, A. J., BERK, D. A., YUAN, F. & JAIN, R. K. (1994). Flow velocity in the superficial lymphatic network of the mouse tail. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 267, H1507–H1513.
- LEVICK, J. R. (1991). Capillary filtration-absorption balance reconsidered in light of dynamic extravascular factors. *Experimental Physiology* 76, 825–857.
- LEVICK, J. R. & MICHEL, C. C. (2010). Microvascular fluid exchange and the revised Starling principle. *Cardiovascular Research* 87, 198–210.
- LI, D., MARCH, M. E., GUTIERREZ-UZQUIZA, A., KAO, C., SEILER, C., PINTO, E., MATSUOKA, L. S., BATTIG, M. R., BHOJ, E. J., WENGER, T. L., TIAN, L., ROBINSON, N., WANG, T., LIU, Y., WEINSTEIN, B. M., *ET AL.* (2019). ARAF recurrent mutation causes central conducting lymphatic anomaly treatable with a MEK inhibitor. *Nature Medicine* 25, 1116–1122.
- LIESCHKE, G. J. & CURRIE, P. D. (2007). Animal models of human disease: zebrafish swim into view. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 8, 353–367.
- LIOUX, G., LIU, X., TEMIÑO, S., OXENDINE, M., AYALA, E., ORTEGA, S., KELLY, R. G., OLIVER, G. & TORRES, M. (2020). A second heart field-derived vasculogenic niche contributes to cardiac lymphatics. *Developmental Cell* 52, 350– 363.c6.
- LOMHOLT, J. P. & FRANKO-DOSSAR, F. (1998). The sinus system of hagfishes lymphatic or secondary circulatory system? In *The Biology of Hagfishes*, pp. 259–272. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LONG, J. A. & GORDON, M. S. (2004). The greatest step in vertebrate history: a paleobiological review of the fish-tetrapod transition. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 77, 700–719.
- LONG, J. A., YOUNG, G. C., HOLLAND, T., SENDEN, T. J. & FITZGERALD, E. M. G. (2006). An exceptional Devonian fish from Australia sheds light on tetrapod origins. *Nature* 444, 199–202.
- LOUVEAU, A., SMIRNOV, I., KEYES, T. J., ECCLES, J. D., ROUHANI, S. J., PESKE, J. D., DERECKI, N. C., CASTLE, D., MANDELL, J. W., KEVIN, S. L., HARRIS, T. H. & KIPNIS, J. (2015). Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatics. *Nature* 523, 337–341.
- MACHNIK, A., NEUHOFER, W., JANTSCH, J., DAHLMANN, A., TAMMELA, T., MACHURA, K., PARK, J.-K., BECK, F.-X., MÜLLER, D. N., DERER, W., GOSS, J., ZIOMBER, A., DIETSCH, P., WAGNER, H., VAN ROOJEN, N., *ET AL.* (2009). Macrophages regulate salt-dependent volume and blood pressure by a vascular endothelial growth factor-C-dependent buffering mechanism. *Nature Medicine* 15, 545–552.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- MAHADEVAN, A., WELSH, I. C., SIVAKUMAR, A., GLUDISH, D. W., SHILVOCK, A. R., NODEN, D. M., HUSS, D., LANSFORD, R. & KURPIOS, N. A. (2014). The left-right Pitx2 pathway drives organ-specific arterial and lymphatic development in the intestine. Developmental Cell 31, 690-706.
- MÄKINEN, T., VEIKKOLA, T., MUSTJOKI, S., KARPANEN, T., CATIMEL, B., NICE, E. C., WISE, L., MERCER, A., KOWALSKI, H., KERJASCHKI, D., STACKER, S. A., ACHEN, M. G. & ALITALO, K. (2001). Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. The EMBO Journal 20, 4762-4773.
- MANDIC, M., FLEAR, K., QIU, P., PAN, Y. K., PERRY, S. F. & GILMOUR, K. M. (2022). Aquatic surface respiration improves survival during hypoxia in zebrafish (Danio rerio) lacking hypoxia-inducible factor 1-a. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 289. 20211863.
- MARIZ, J. P. V. & NERY, M. F. (2020). Unraveling the molecular evolution of blood coagulation genes in fishes and cetaceans. Frontiers in Marine Science 7, 592383.
- MARTINEZ-CORRAL, I., ULVMAR, M. H., STANCZUK, L., TATIN, F., KIZHATIL, K., JOHN, S. W. M., ALITALO, K., ORTEGA, S. & MAKINEN, T. (2015). Nonvenous origin of dermal lymphatic vasculature. Circulation Research 116, 1649-1654.
- MARUYAMA, K., MIYAGAWA-TOMITA, S., MIZUKAMI, K., MATSUZAKI, F. & KURIHARA, H. (2019). Isl1-expressing non-venous cell lineage contributes to cardiac lymphatic vessel development. Developmental Biology 452, 134-143.
- MATTONET, K. & JELTSCH, M. (2015). Heterogeneity of the origin of the lymphatic system. [German]. Lymphologie in Forschung und Praxis 19, 84-88.
- MAYER, P. (1888). Über Eigentümlichkeiten in den Kreislaufsorganen der Selachier. Mitteilungen der Zoologischen Station Neapel 2, 307-373.
- MAYER, P. (1919). Über die Lymphgefäße der Fische und ihre mutmaßliche Rolle bei der Verdauung. Jenaische Zeitschrift für Naturwissenschaft 55, 125-174.
- MENKE, A. L., SPITSBERGEN, J. M., WOLTERBEEK, A. P. M. & WOUTERSEN, R. A. (2011). Normal anatomy and histology of the adult zebrafish. Toxicologic Pathology 39, 759-775.
- METCALFE, J. D. & BUTLER, P. J. (1986). The functional anatomy of the gills of the dogfish (Scyliorhinus canicula). Journal of Zoology 208, 519-530.
- NAKAO, T. & UCHINOMIYA, K. (1978). A study on the blood vascular system of the lamprey gill filament. The American Journal of Anatomy 151, 239-263.
- NELSON, J. A. (2014). Breaking wind to survive: fishes that breathe air with their gut. Journal of Fish Biology 84, 554-576.
- NICENBOIM, J., MALKINSON, G., LUPO, T., ASAF, L., SELA, Y., MAYSELESS, O., GIBBS-BAR, L., SENDEROVICH, N., HASHIMSHONY, T., SHIN, M., JERAFI-VIDER, A., AVRAHAM-DAVIDI, I., KRUPALNIK, V., HOFI, R., ALMOG, G., ET AL. (2015). Lymphatic vessels arise from specialized angioblasts within a venous niche. Nature 522, 56-61.
- NURMI, H., SAHARINEN, P., ZARKADA, G., ZHENG, W., ROBCIUC, M. R. & ALITALO, K. (2015). VEGF-C is required for intestinal lymphatic vessel maintenance and lipid absorption. EMBO Molecular Medicine 7, 1418-1425.
- NY, A., KOCH, M., SCHNEIDER, M., NEVEN, E., TONG, R. T., MAITY, S., FISCHER, C., PLAISANCE, S., LAMBRECHTS, D., HÉLIGON, C., TERCLAVERS, S., CIESIOLKA, M., KÄLIN, R., MAN, W. Y., SENN, I., ET AL. (2005). A genetic Xenopus laevis tadpole model to study lymphangiogenesis. Nature Medicine 11, 998-1004.
- OH, S.-J., JELTSCH, M. M., BIRKENHÄGER, R., MCCARTHY, J. E. G., WEICH, H. A., CHRIST, B., ALITALO, K. & WILTING, J. (1997). VEGF and VEGF-C: specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. Developmental Biology 188, 96-109.
- OKABE, R., CHEN-YOSHIKAWA, T. F., YONEYAMA, Y., YOKOYAMA, Y., TANAKA, S., YOSHIZAWA, A., THOMPSON, W. L., KANNAN, G., KOBAYASHI, E., DATE, H. & TAKEBE, T. (2021). Mammalian enteral ventilation ameliorates respiratory failure. Med 2, 773-783.e5.
- Okuda, K. S., Astin, J. W., Misa, J. P., Flores, M. V., Crosier, K. E. & CROSIER, P. S. (2012). lvve1 expression reveals novel lymphatic vessels and new mechanisms for lymphatic vessel development in zebrafish. Development 139, 2381-2391.
- OKUDA, K. S., MISA, J. P., OEHLERS, S. H., HALL, C. J., ELLETT, F., ALASMARI, S., LIESCHKE, G. J., CROSIER, K. E., CROSIER, P. S. & ASTIN, J. W. (2015). A zebrafish model of inflammatory lymphangiogenesis. Biology Open 4, 1270-1280.
- OLIVER, G., KIPNIS, J., RANDOLPH, G. J. & HARVEY, N. L. (2020). The lymphatic vasculature in the 21st century: novel functional roles in homeostasis and disease. Cell 182, 270-296.
- OLSON, K. (1996). Secondary circulation in fish: anatomical organization and physiological significance. Journal of Experimental Zoology 275, 172-185.
- OLSON, K. R. (2002). Vascular anatomy of the fish gill. Journal of Experimental Zoology 293, 214-231.
- OLSON, K. R., DEWAR, H., GRAHAM, J. B. & BRILL, R. W. (2003a). Vascular anatomy of the gills in a high energy demand teleost, the skipjack tuna (Katsuwonus pelamis). Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Comparative Experimental Biology 297A, 17–31.
- OLSON, K. R. & FARELL, A. P. (2011). Secondary circulation and lymphatic anatomy. In Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment, pp. 1161-1168. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam/Boston.

- Olson, K. R., Kinney, D. W., Dombkowski, R. A. & Duff, D. W. (2003b). Transvascular and intravascular fluid transport in the rainbow trout: revisiting Starling's forces, the secondary circulation and interstitial compliance. Journal of Experimental Biology 206, 457-467.
- OTIS, J. P., ZEITUNI, E. M., THIERER, J. H., ANDERSON, J. L., BROWN, A. C., BOEHM, E. D., CERCHIONE, D. M., CEASRINE, A. M., AVRAHAM-DAVIDI, I., TEMPELHOF, H., YANIV, K. & FARBER, S. A. (2015). Zebrafish as a model for apolipoprotein biology: comprehensive expression analysis and a role for ApoA-IV in regulating food intake. Disease Models & Mechanisms 8, 295-309.
- PANARA, V., YU, H., PENG, D., STAXÄNG, K., HODIK, M., FILIPEK-GORNIOK, B., KAZENWADEL, J., SKOCZYLAS, R., MASON, E., ALLALOU, A., HARVEY, N. L., HAITINA, T., HOGAN, B. M. & KOLTOWSKA, K. (2024). Multiple cis-regulatory elements control prox1a expression in distinct lymphatic vascular beds. Development 151, dev202525.
- PARK, D.-Y., LEE, J., PARK, I., CHOI, D., LEE, S., SONG, S., HWANG, Y., HONG, K.Y., NAKAOKA, Y., MAKINEN, T., KIM, P., ALITALO, K., HONG, Y.-K. & KOH, G. Y. (2014). Lymphatic regulator PROX1 determines Schlemm's canal integrity and identity. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 124, 3960-3974.
- PAULISSEN, S. M., CASTRANOVA, D. M., KRISPIN, S. M., BURNS, M. C., MENÉNDEZ, J., TORRES-VÁZQUEZ, J. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2022). Anatomy and development of the pectoral fin vascular network in the zebrafish. Development 149, dev199676.
- PAVLOV, V., ROSENTAL, B., HANSEN, N. F., BEERS, J. M., PARISH, G., ROWBOTHAM, I. & BLOCK, B. A. (2017). Hydraulic control of tuna fins: a role for the lymphatic system in vertebrate locomotion. Science 357, 310-314.
- PAWLAK, J. B., BÁLINT, L., LIM, L., MA, W., DAVIS, R. B., BENYÓ, Z., SOARES, M. J., OLIVER, G., KAHN, M. L., JAKUS, Z. & CARON, K. M. (2019). Lymphatic mimicry in maternal endothelial cells promotes placental spiral artery remodeling. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 129, 4912-4921.
- PENG, D., ANDO, K., HUSSMANN, M., GLOGER, M., SKOCZYLAS, R., MOCHIZUKI, N., BETSHOLTZ, C., FUKUHARA, S., SCHULTE-MERKER, S., LAWSON, N. D. & KOLTOWSKA, K. (2022). Proper migration of lymphatic endothelial cells requires survival and guidance cues from arterial mural cells. eLife 11, e74094.
- PETROVA, T. V., BONO, P., HOLNTHONER, W., CHESNES, J., PYTOWSKI, B., SIHTO, H., LAAKKONEN, P., HEIKKILÄ, P., JOENSUU, H. & ALITALO, K. (2008). VEGFR-3 expression is restricted to blood and lymphatic vessels in solid tumors. Cancer Cell 13, 554-556.
- PETROVA, T. V. & KOH, G. Y. (2017). Organ-specific lymphatic vasculature: from development to pathophysiology. Journal of Experimental Medicine 215, 35-49.
- PETROVA, T. V. & KOH, G. Y. (2020). Biological functions of lymphatic vessels. Science 369 eaax4063
- PICHOL-THIEVEND, C., BETTERMAN, K. L., LIU, X., MA, W., SKOCZYLAS, R., LESIEUR, E., BOS, F. L., SCHULTE, D., SCHULTE-MERKER, S., HOGAN, B. M., OLIVER, G., HARVEY, N. L. & FRANCOIS, M. (2018). A blood capillary plexusderived population of progenitor cells contributes to genesis of the dermal lymphatic vasculature during embryonic development. Development 145, dev160184.
- POHLA, H., LAMETSCHWANDTNER, A. & ADAM, H. (1977). Die Vaskularisation der Kiemen von Myxine glutinosa L. (Cyclostomata). Zoologica Scripta 6, 331-341.
- POLOMSKA, A. K. & PROULX, S. T. (2021). Imaging technology of the lymphatic system. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 170, 294-311.
- PREVO, R., BANERJI, S., NI, J. & JACKSON, D. G. (2004). Rapid plasma membraneendosomal trafficking of the lymph node sinus and high endothelial venule scavenger receptor/homing receptor stabilin-1 (Feel-1/Clever-1). Journal of Biological Chemistry 279, 52580-52592.
- RADU, B. M., RADU, M., TOGNOLI, C., BENATI, D., MERIGO, F., ASSFALG, M., SOLANI, E., STRANIERI, C., CECCON, A., FRATTA PASINI, A. M., Cominacini, L., Bramanti, P., Osculati, F., Bertini, G. & Fabene, P. F. (2015). Are they in or out? The elusive interaction between Qtracker® 800 vascular labels and brain endothelial cells. Nanomedicine 10, 3329-3342.
- RANDOLPH, G. J., IVANOV, S., ZINSELMEYER, B. H. & SCALLAN, J. P. (2017). The lymphatic system: integral roles in immunity. Annual Review of Immunology 35, 31-52.
- RASMUSSEN, K. J., STEFFENSEN, J. F. & BUCHMANN, K. (2013). Differential occurrence of immune cells in the primary and secondary vascular systems in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). Journal of Fish Diseases 36, 675-679.
- RAUNIYAR, K., BOKHARAIE, H. & JELTSCH, M. (2023). Expansion and collapse of VEGF diversity in major clades of the animal kingdom. Angiogenesis 26, 437-461.
- Resseguier, J., Nguyen-Chi, M., Wohlmann, J., Rigaudeau, D., Salinas, I., Oehlers, S. H., Wiegertjes, G. F., Johansen, F.-E., Qiao, S.-W., Koppang, E. O., Verrier, B., Boudinot, P. & Griffiths, G. (2023). Identification of a pharyngeal mucosal lymphoid organ in zebrafish and other teleosts: tonsils in fish? Science Advances 9, eadj0101.
- ROBIN, C. (1845). Note sur un appareil particulier des vaisseaux lymphatiques chez les poissons. Revue de Zoologie Agricole et Appliquée 8, 224.
- ROMBOUGH, P. (2002). Gills are needed for ionoregulation before they are needed for O2 uptake in developing zebrafish, Danio rerio. Journal of Experimental Biology 205, 1787-1794.

- ROMBOUGH, P. J. (2011). Respiratory gas exchange during development: respiratory transitions. In *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment*, pp. 838–845. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam/Boston.
- ROSSI, A., GAUVRIT, S., MARASS, M., PAN, L., MOENS, C. B. & STAINIER, D. Y. R. (2016). Regulation of Vegf signaling by natural and synthetic ligands. *Blood* 128, 2359–2366.
- RUMMER, J. L., WANG, S., STEFFENSEN, J. F. & RANDALL, D. J. (2014). Function and control of the fish secondary vascular system, a contrast to mammalian lymphatic systems. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 217, 751–757.
- RUTILI, G. & ARFORS, K.-E. (1977). Protein concentration in interstitial and lymphatic fluids from the subcutaneous tissue. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica* 99, 1–8.
- SABIN, F. R. (1902). On the origin of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. *American Journal of Anatomy* 1, 367–389.
- SACCA, R. & BURGGREN, W. (1982). Oxygen uptake in air and water in the airbreathing reedfish *Calamoichthys calabaricus*: role of skin, gills and lungs. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 97, 179–186.
- SALMI, M., KOSKINEN, K., HENTTINEN, T., ELIMA, K. & JALKANEN, S. (2004). CLEVER-1 mediates lymphocyte transmigration through vascular and lymphatic endothelium. *Blood* **104**, 3849–3857.
- SCHMID-SCHÖNBEIN, G. W. (2003). The second valve system in lymphatics. Lymphatic Research and Biology 1, 25–31.
- SCHNEIDER, M., OTHMAN-HASSAN, K., CHRIST, B. & WILTING, J. (1999). Lymphangioblasts in the avian wing bud. *Developmental Dynamics* 216, 311–319.
- SCHROEDL, F., KASER-EICHBERGER, A., SCHLERETH, S. L., BOCK, F., REGENFUSS, B., REITSAMER, H. A., LUTTY, G. A., MARUYAMA, K., CHEN, L., LÜTJEN-DRECOLL, E., DANA, R., KERJASCHKI, D., ALITALO, K., DE STEFANO, M. E., JUNGHANS, B. M., *ET AL.* (2014). Consensus statement on the immunohistochemical detection of ocular lymphatic vessels. *Investigative* Ophthalmology & Visual Science 55, 6440–6442.
- SEMO, J., NICENBOIM, J. & YANIV, K. (2016). Development of the lymphatic system: new questions and paradigms. *Development* 143, 924–935.
- SHERIDAN, M. A. (1988). Lipid dynamics in fish: aspects of absorption, transportation, deposition and mobilization. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry* **90**, 679–690.
- SHERIDAN, M. A., FRIEDLANDER, J. K. L. & ALLEN, W. V. (1985). Chylomicra in the serum of postprandial steelhead trout (Salmo gairdnerii). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry 81, 281–284.
- SHIN, M., MALE, I., BEANE, T. J., VILLEFRANC, J. A., KOK, F. O., ZHU, L. J. & LAWSON, N. D. (2016). Vegfc acts through ERK to induce sprouting and differentiation of trunk lymphatic progenitors. *Development* 143, 3785–3795.
- SHIN, M., NOZAKI, T., IDRIZI, F., ISOGAI, S., OGASAWARA, K., ISHIDA, K., YUGE, S., ROSCOE, B., WOLFE, S. A., FUKUHARA, S., MOCHIZUKI, N., DEGUCHI, T. & LAWSON, N. D. (2019). Valves are a conserved feature of the zebrafish lymphatic system. *Developmental Cell* **51**, 374–386.c5.
- SHIN, M., YIN, H.-M., SHIH, Y.-H., NOZAKI, T., PORTMAN, D., TOLES, B., KOLB, A., LUK, K., ISOGAI, S., ISHIDA, K., HANASAKA, T., PARSONS, M. J., WOLFE, S. A., BURNS, C. E., BURNS, C. G., *ET AL.* (2023). Generation and application of endogenously floxed alleles for cell-specific knockout in zebrafish. *Developmental Cell* 58, 2614–2626.e7.
- SIRE, M. F., LUTTON, C. & VERNIER, J. M. (1981). New views on intestinal absorption of lipids in teleostean fishes: an ultrastructural and biochemical study in the rainbow trout. *Journal of Lipid Research* 22, 81–94.
- SIRET, C., VAN LESSEN, M., BAVAIS, J., JEONG, H. W., REDDY SAMAWAR, S. K., KAPUPARA, K., WANG, S., SIMIC, M., DE FABRITUS, L., TCHOGHANDJIAN, A., FALLET, M., HUANG, H., SARRAZIN, S., SIEWEKE, M. H., STUMM, R., *ET AL.* (2022). Deciphering the heterogeneity of the Lyvel+ perivascular macrophages in the mouse brain. *Nature Communications* 13, 7366.
- SKOV, P. V. & BENNETT, M. B. (2003). The secondary vascular system of Actinopterygii: interspecific variation in origins and investment. *Zoomorphology* 122, 181–190.
- SKOV, P. V. & BENNETT, M. B. (2005). Branchial vascular pathways in two species of Tetraodontiformes and the concept of secondary vessels and nutrient arteries. *Zoomorphology* 124, 79–88.
- SONG, M., YANG, H., YAO, S., MA, F., LI, Z., DENG, Y., DENG, H., ZHOU, Q., LIN, S. & WEI, Y. (2007). A critical role of vascular endothelial growth factor D in zebrafish embryonic vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 357, 924–930.
- STANCZUK, L., MARTINEZ-CORRAL, I., ULVMAR, M. H., ZHANG, Y., LAVIÑA, B., FRUTTIGER, M., ADAMS, R. H., SAUR, D., BETSHOLTZ, C., ORTEGA, S., ALITALO, K., GRAUPERA, M. & MÄKINEN, T. (2015). cKit lineage hemogenic endothelium-derived cells contribute to mesenteric lymphatic vessels. *Cell Reports* 10, 1708–1721.
- STEFFENSEN, J. F. & LOMHOLT, J. P. (1992). The secondary vascular system. In *The Cardiovascular System*, pp. 185–217. Academic Press, San Diego.

- STEFFENSEN, J. F., LOMHOLT, J. P. & JOHANSEN, K. (1981). The relative importance of skin oxygen uptake in the naturally buried plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa*, exposed to graded hypoxia. *Respiration Physiology* 44, 269–275.
- STEFFENSEN, J. F., LOMHOLT, J. P. & VOGEL, W. O. P. (1986). In vivo observations on a specialized microvasculature, the primary and secondary vessels in fishes. Acta Zoologica 67, 193–200.
- STOLETOV, K., FANG, L., CHOI, S.-H., HARTVIGSEN, K., HANSEN, L. F., HALL, C., PATTISON, J., JULIANO, J., MILLER, E. R., ALMAZAN, F., CROSIER, P., WITZTUM, J. L., KLEMKE, R. L. & MILLER, Y. I. (2009). Vascular lipid accumulation, lipoprotein oxidation, and macrophage lipid uptake in hypercholesterolemic zebrafish. *Circulation Research* **104**, 952–960.
- STOSIK, M., TOKARZ-DEPTUŁA, B. & DEPTUŁA, W. (2019). Characterisation of thrombocytes in osteichthyes. *Journal of Veterinary Research* 63, 123–131.
- SUH, S. H., CHOE, K., HONG, S. P., JEONG, S., MÄKINEN, T., KIM, K. S., ALITALO, K., SURH, C. D., KOH, G. Y. & SONG, J. (2019). Gut microbiota regulates lacteal integrity by inducing VEGF-C in intestinal villus macrophages. *EMBO Reports* 20, e46927.
- TAYLOR, P. R., GORDON, S. & MARTINEZ-POMARES, L. (2005). The mannose receptor: linking homeostasis and immunity through sugar recognition. *Trends in Immunology* 26, 104–110.
- TEMPLEHOF, H., MOSHE, N., AVRAHAM-DAVIDI, I. & YANIV, K. (2021). Zebrafish mutants provide insights into apolipoprotein B functions during embryonic development and pathological conditions. *JCI Insight* 6, 130399.
- TRUONG, T. N., LI, H., HONG, Y.-K. & CHEN, L. (2014). Novel characterization and live imaging of Schlemm's canal expressing Prox-1. *PLoS One* 9, e98245.
- ULTSCH, G. R. (1989). Ecology and physiology of hibernation and overwintering among freshwater fishes, turtles, and snakes. *Biological Reviews* 64, 435–515.
- ULVMAR, M. H. & MÄKINEN, T. (2016). Heterogeneity in the lymphatic vascular system and its origin. *Cardiovascular Research* 111, 310–321.
- VAL, A. L. (1995). Oxygen transfer in fish: morphological and molecular adjustments. Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research = Revista Brasileira De Pesquisas Medicas E Biologicas 28, 1119–1127.
- VAN DER JAGT, E. R. (1932). The origin and development of the anterior lymph-sacs in the sea-turtle (*Thalassochelys caretta*). Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science. S2-75, 151–163.
- VAN IMPEL, A., ZHAO, Z., HERMKENS, D. M. A., ROUKENS, M. G., FISCHER, J. C., PETERSON-MADURO, J., DUCKERS, H., OBER, E. A., INGHAM, P. W. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2014). Divergence of zebrafish and mouse lymphatic cell fate specification pathways. *Development* 141, 1228–1238.
- VAN LESSEN, M., SHIBATA-GERMANOS, S., VAN IMPEL, A., HAWKINS, T. A., RIHEL, J. & SCHULTE-MERKER, S. (2017). Intracellular uptake of macromolecules by brain lymphatic endothelial cells during zebrafish embryonic development. *eLife* 6, e25932.
- VENERO GALANTERNIK, M., STRATMAN, A. N., JUNG, H. M., BUTLER, M. G. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2016). Building the drains: the lymphatic vasculature in health and disease. WIREs Developmental Biology 5, 689–710.
- VIALLETON, L. (1902). Les lymphatiques du tube digestif de la Torpille (Torpedo marmorata, Risso). Archives d'Anatomie Microscopique 5, 378–456.
- VIVIEN, C. J., PICHOL-THIEVEND, C., SIM, C. B., SMITH, J. B., BOWER, N. I., HOGAN, B. M., HUDSON, J. E., FRANCOIS, M. & PORRELLO, E. R. (2019). Vegfc/d-dependent regulation of the lymphatic vasculature during cardiac regeneration is influenced by injury context. *Mpj Regenerative Medicine* 4, 18.
- VOGEL, W. O. (1981). Structure and principles of organization of the vascular system in bony fishes [German]. *Gegenbaurs Morphologisches Jahrbuch* 127, 772–784.
- VOGEL, W. O. P. (1985a). Systemic vascular anastomoses, primary and secondary vessels in fish, and the phylogeny of lymphatics. In *Cardiovascular Shunts: Phylogenetic, Ontogenetic and Clinical Aspects*, pp. 143–159. Munksgaard, Copenhagen.
- VOGEL, W. O. P. (1985b). The caudal heart of fish: not a lymph heart. Cells, Tissues, Organs 121, 41–45.
- VOGEL, W. O. P. (2010). Zebrafish and lymphangiogenesis: a reply. Anatomical Science International 85, 118–119.
- VOGEL, W. O. P. & CLAVIEZ, M. (1981). Vascular specialization in fish, but no evidence for lymphatics. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung* 36, 490–492.
- VOGEL, W. O. P., HUGHES, G. M. & MATTHEUS, U. (1998). Non-respiratory blood vessels in *Latimeria* gill filaments. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences* 353, 465–475.
- VOGEL, W. O. P. & MATTHEUS, U. (1998). Lymphatic vessels in lungfishes (Dipnoi). Zoomorphology 117, 199–212.
- VOGRIN, A. J., BOWER, N. I., GUNZBURG, M. J., ROUFAIL, S., OKUDA, K. S., PATERSON, S., HEADEY, S. J., STACKER, S. A., HOGAN, B. M. & ACHEN, M. G. (2019). Evolutionary differences in the Vegf/Vegfr code reveal organotypic roles for the endothelial cell receptor Kdr in developmental lymphangiogenesis. *Cell Reports* 28, 2023–2036.e4.
- WANG, G., MUHL, L., PADBERG, Y., DUPONT, L., PETERSON-MADURO, J., STEHLING, M., LE NOBLE, F., COLIGE, A., BETSHOLTZ, C., SCHULTE-MERKER, S. & VAN IMPEL, A. (2020). Specific fibroblast subpopulations and

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

neuronal structures provide local sources of Vegfc-processing components during zebrafish lymphangiogenesis. *Nature Communications* **11**, 2724.

- WEIDENREICH, F., BAUM, H. & TRAUTMANN, A. (1934). VII. Lymphgefüßsystem. In Handbuch der vergleichenden Anatomie der Wirbeltiere, pp. 745–854. Urban & Schwarzenberg, Berlin, Vienna.
- WELSH, J. D., KAHN, M. L. & SWEET, D. T. (2016). Lymphovenous hemostasis and the role of platelets in regulating lymphatic flow and lymphatic vessel maturation. *Blood* 128, 1169–1173.
- WIGLE, J. T. & OLIVER, G. (1999). Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. *Cell* 98, 769–778.
- WIIG, H., SCHRÖDER, A., NEUHOFER, W., JANTSCH, J., KOPP, C., KARLSEN, T. V., BOSCHMANN, M., GOSS, J., BRY, M., RAKOVA, N., DAHLMANN, A., BRENNER, S., TENSTAD, O., NURMI, H., MERVAALA, E., *et al.* (2013). Immune cells control skin lymphatic electrolyte homeostasis and blood pressure. *The Journal* of *Clinical Investigation* 123, 2803–2815.
- WILTING, J., AREF, Y., HUANG, R., TOMAREV, S. I., SCHWEIGERER, L., CHRIST, B., VALASEK, P. & PAPOUTSI, M. (2006). Dual origin of avian lymphatics. *Developmental Biology* **292**, 165–173.
- WILTING, J. & BECKER, J. (2022). The lymphatic vascular system: much more than just a sewer. *Cell & Bioscience* **12**, 157.
- WILTING, J., EICHMANN, A. & CHRIST, B. (1997). Expression of the avian VEGF receptor homologues Quekl and Quek2 in blood-vascular and lymphatic endothelial and non-endothelial cells during quail embryonic development. *Cell* and Tissue Research 288, 207–223.
- WILTING, J., PAPOUTSI, M., CHRIST, B., NICOLAIDES, K. H., KAISENBERG, C. S., BORGES, J., STARK, G. B., ALITALO, K., TOMAREV, S. I., NIEMEYER, C. & RÖSSLER, J. (2002). The transcription factor Prox1 is a marker for lymphatic

endothelial cells in normal and diseased human tissues. The FASEB *journal* 16, 1271-1273.

- WILTING, J., PAPOUTSI, M., SCHNEIDER, M. & CHRIST, B. (2000). The lymphatic endothelium of the avian wing is of somitic origin. *Developmental Dynamics* 217, 271–278.
- XU, Y., YUAN, L., MAK, J., PARDANAUD, L., CAUNT, M., KASMAN, I., LARRIVÉE, B., DEL TORO, R., SUCHTING, S., MEDVINSKY, A., SILVA, J., YANG, J., THOMAS, J.-L., KOCH, A. W., ALITALO, K., *ET AL.* (2010). Neuropilin-2 mediates VEGF-C-induced lymphatic sprouting together with VEGFR3. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 188, 115–130.
- YANIV, K., ISOGAI, S., CASTRANOVA, D., DYE, L., HITOMI, J. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2006). Live imaging of lymphatic development in the zebrafish. *Nature Medicine* 12, 711–716.
- YANIV, K., ISOGAI, S., CASTRANOVA, D., DYE, L., HITOMI, J. & WEINSTEIN, B. M. (2007). Imaging the developing lymphatic system using the zebrafish. In *Vascular Development: Novartis Foundation Symposium 283* (Vol. 283, pp. 139–151) Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- YUAN, L., MOYON, D., PARDANAUD, L., BRÉANT, C., KARKKAINEN, M. J., ALITALO, K. & EICHMANN, A. (2002). Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. *Development* 129, 4797–4806.
- ZHANG, Y., DAUBEL, N., STRITT, S. & MÄKINEN, T. (2018). Transient loss of venous integrity during developmental vascular remodeling leads to red blood cell extravasation and clearance by lymphatic vessels. *Development* 145, dev156745.
- ZIMMER, A. M., MANDIC, M., ROURKE, K. M. & PERRY, S. F. (2020). Breathing with fins: do the pectoral fins of larval fishes play a respiratory role? *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **318**, R89–R97.

(Received 27 December 2023; revised 14 June 2024; accepted 17 June 2024)